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For the convenience of readers and for information purpose only, the 

auditors’ report and the accompanying financial statements have been 

translated into English from the original Chinese version prepared and 

used in the Republic of China. In the event of any discrepancy between 

the English version and the original Chinese version or any differences in 

the interpretation of the two versions, the Chinese-language auditors’ 
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

Declaration of Consolidated Financial Statements of Affiliated Enterprises 

 

Affiliated enterprises subject to the preparation of consolidated financial statements of affiliated 

enterprises under the “Criteria Governing Preparation of Affiliation Reports, Consolidated Business 

Reports and Consolidated Financial Statements of Affiliated Enterprises," were identical to the affiliated 

companies subject to the preparation of consolidated financial statements under the International 

Financial Reporting Standards No. 10 (IFRS 10) for the financial year 2021 (from January 1 to December 

31, 2021). All mandatory disclosures of affiliated enterprises' consolidated financial statements have 

been disclosed in the consolidated financial statements. Therefore, no separate consolidated financial 

statements of affiliated enterprises were prepared. 

 

This declaration is solemnly made by 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Company: Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

 

Person-in-charge: Chen, Chi Tai 

 

March 8, 2022 
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Independent Auditors' Report 

(111) Cai-Shen-Bao No. 21003924 

To stakeholders of Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd.: 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Chun Zu Machinery 

Industry Co., Ltd. and subsidiaries (the "Group") as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income, changes in equity, cash flows, and notes to 

consolidated financial statements (including a summary of significant accounting policies) for 

the periods from January 1 to December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

In our opinion, all material disclosures of the consolidated financial statements mentioned 

above were prepared in accordance with "Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial 

Reports by Securities Issuers" and the version of International Financial Reporting Standards, 

International Accounting Standards and interpretations thereof approved by the Financial 

Supervisory Commission, and presented a fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 

Group as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and consolidated business performance and cash flow 

for the periods January 1 to December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Basis for Opinion 

We have conducted our audits in accordance with "Regulations Governing Auditing and 

Attestation of Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants" and the generally accepted 

auditing standards of the Republic of China. Our responsibilities as an auditor under the 

abovementioned standards are explained in the Responsibilities paragraph. All relevant personnel 

of the accounting firm have followed CPA code of ethics of the Republic of China and maintained 

independence from the Group, and fulfilled other responsibilities under the code of ethics. We 

believe that the evidence obtained provides an adequate and appropriate basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are matters that we considered to be the most important, based on 

professional judgment when auditing the 2021 consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

These matters have already been addressed when we audited and formed our opinions on the 

consolidated financial statements. Therefore, we do not provide opinions separately for 

individual matters. 

Key audit matters concerning the 2021 consolidated financial statements of the Group are 

as follows: 

Cut-Off Time of Revenue 

Description 

Please refer to Note 4(24) of the consolidated financial statements for a detailed description 

of the accounting policy on revenue recognition. 
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The Group generates revenues primarily from the manufacturing and sale of machine tools, 

chemical machines, compressors, and screw/bolt/nut formers. The timing at which sales revenues 

are recognized depends mainly on the terms of individual contracts, and revenue is recognized 

when the goods are accepted by the customer and the control of the goods is transferred to the 

customer. Since revenue recognition requires confirmation on the completion and fulfillment of 

trade terms, a process that involves manual works and subjective judgments and varies in 

duration for different batches of goods, the assessment of whether the time point of recognized 

income has been reached on the balance sheet date will affect the financial statement period to 

which the income belongs. Given the substantial sum of each transaction, the timing of revenue 

requires high level of attention from auditors, which is why we have highlighted it as a key audit 

matter for this audit. 

Audit Procedures 

The following audit procedures were taken in relation to the audit matter described above: 

1. Understanding and evaluating the accounting policy on revenue recognition. 

2. Understanding and evaluating internal control practices on revenue recognition, and 

conducting tests to ensure that internal control practices are effective in determining the timing 

of shipment and revenue recognition. 

3. Performing cut-off tests on sales transactions that were completed just before and after the 

balances sheet date to confirm that control of goods was indeed transferred to customers for 

all recognized revenues, and that revenues were recorded for the appropriate period. 

Impairment of Inventory 

Description 

For accounting policies on inventory valuation, please refer to Note 4(11) - Inventory of the 

consolidated financial statements; for critical accounting estimates, assumptions, and 

uncertainties on inventory valuation, please refer to Note 5(2) - Significant accounting estimates 

and assumptions - Inventory valuation of the consolidated financial statements; for detailed 

inventory accounts, please refer to Note 6(3) - Inventory of the consolidated financial statements. 

as at December 31, 2021, the total inventory balance and provisions for inventory devaluation 

loss were NT$770,247 thousand and NT$68,960 thousand respectively. 

The Group operates mainly as a manufacturer of machine tools, chemical machines, 

compressors, and screw/bolt/nut formers. Due to changes in market demand and technology, 

materials held on hand for the production of machinery may be susceptible to higher risk of 

devaluation or obsolescence. The Group values inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable 

value. For inventory that exceeds certain aging bracket or has been individually identified as 

obsolete, net realizable value is estimated regularly by the management based on movement and 

utilization of individual inventory items. 

Given that the industries the Group produces equipment/products for are susceptible to 

changes in technology, and that evaluation of net realizable value on obsolete inventory often 
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involves subjective judgments, we consider it necessary to verify the judgments used and have 

highlighted it as a key audit matter for this audit. 

Audit procedures in response 

The following audit procedures were taken in relation to the audit matter described above: 

1. In accordance with the provisions of accounting principles and the understanding of the nature 

of the operation and industry, the provision policy of inventory devaluation loss during the 

period of comparative financial statements is adopted consistently, and the rationality of the 

provision policy and procedure adopted for inventory devaluation loss is evaluated, including 

the source of inventory information on which the net realizable value is determined and the 

rationality of obsolete inventory items. 

2. Understanding the warehousing procedures, examining the annual stock-taking plan, and 

participating in annual stock takes to evaluate the effectiveness of the management's judgment 

and control over obsolete inventory. 

3. Validating the logic adopted for determining net realizable value and preparing aging 

inventory reports, and spot checking the inventory with individual item number to recalculate 

its net realizable value, in order to verify the appropriateness of provisions made on inventory 

devaluation. 

Other Matters - Parent Company Only Financial Statements 

Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. has prepared its parent company only financial 

statements for 2021 and 2020, to which we have issued an independent auditor's report with an 

unqualified opinion.  

Responsibilities of the Management and Governance for The Consolidated 

Financial Statements 

Responsibilities of the management were to prepare and ensure fair presentation of 

consolidated financial statements in accordance with "Regulations Governing the Preparation of 

Financial Reports by Securities Issuers" and the version of International Financial Reporting 

Standards, International Accounting Standards and interpretations thereof approved by the 

Financial Supervisory Commission, and to exercise proper internal control practices that are 

relevant to the preparation of consolidated financial statements so that the consolidated financial 

statements are free of material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error. 

The management's responsibilities when preparing consolidated financial statements also 

involved: assessing the ability of the Group to operate, disclose information, and account for 

transactions as a going concern unless the management intends to liquidate or cease business 

operations, or is compelled to do so with no alternative solution. 

The governing body of Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. (including the Audit 

Committee) is responsible for supervising the financial reporting process. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Consolidated Financial 

Statements 

The purposes of our audit were to obtain reasonable assurance of whether the consolidated 

financial statements were prone to material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error, and 

to issue a report of our audit opinions. We considered assurance to be reasonable only if it is 

highly credible. However, audit tasks conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing 

principles of the Republic of China do not necessarily guarantee detection of all material 

misstatements within the consolidated financial statements. Misstatements can arise from fraud 

or error. Misstatements are considered material if the individual amount or aggregate total is 

reasonably expected to affect economic decisions of the consolidated financial statement user. 

When conducting audits in accordance with generally accepted audit principles of the 

Republic of China, we exercised judgments and raised doubts as deemed professionally 

appropriate. We also performed the following tasks as an auditor: 

1. Identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement within the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error; designing and executing appropriate response 

measures for the identified risks; and obtaining adequate and appropriate audit evidence to 

support audit opinions. Fraud may involve conspiracy, forgery, intentional omission, 

untruthful declaration, or breach of internal control, and our audit did not find any material 

misstatement where the risk of fraud is greater than the risk of error. 

2. Developing the required level of understanding on relevant internal controls and designing 

audit procedures that are appropriate under the prevailing circumstances, but without providing 

opinion on the effectiveness of internal control system of the Group. 

3. Assessed the appropriateness of accounting policies adopted by the management, and the 

rationality of accounting estimates and related disclosures made. 

4. Forming conclusions regarding the appropriateness of management's decision to account for 

the business as a going concern, and whether there are doubts or uncertainties about the ability 

of the Group to operate as a going concern, based on the audit evidence obtained. We are 

bound to remind consolidated financial statement users and make related disclosures if 

material uncertainties exist in regards to the above mentioned events or circumstances, and 

amend audit opinions when the disclosures are no longer appropriate. Our conclusions are 

based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of audit report. However, future events or 

circumstances may still render the Group no longer capable of operating as a going concern. 

5. Assessing the overall presentation, structure, and contents of the consolidated financial 

statements (including related footnotes), and whether certain transactions and events are 

presented appropriately in the consolidated financial statements. 

6. Obtaining sufficient and appropriate audit evidence on financial information of individual 

entities within the group, and expressing opinions on consolidated financial statements. Our 

responsibilities as auditor are to instruct, supervise and execute audits and form audit opinions 
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on the group.      

We have communicated with the governing body about the scope, timing and significant 

findings (including significant defects identified in the internal control) of our audit. 

We have also provided the governing body with a declaration of independence stating that 

all relevant personnel of the accounting firm have complied with auditors' professional ethics of 

the Republic of China, and communicated with the governing body on all matters that may affect 

the auditor's independence (including protection measures). 

We have identified the key audit matters after communicating with the governing body 

regarding the 2021 consolidated financial statements of The Group. These issues have been 

addressed in our audit report except for: Certain topics that are prohibited by law from disclosing 

to the public; or Under extreme circumstances, topics that we decided not to communicate in the 

audit report because of higher negative impacts they may cause than the benefits they bring to 

public interest. 

 

 

 

 

Lin, Tzu Shu         Liu, Tzu Meng   

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers, Taiwan 

March 8, 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

The accompanying parent company only financial statements are not intended to present the 

financial position and results of operations and cash flows in accordance with accounting 

principles generally accepted in countries and jurisdictions other than the Republic of China. The 

standards, procedures and practices in the Republic of China governing the audit of such financial 

statements may differ from those generally accepted in countries and jurisdictions other than the 

Republic of China. Accordingly, the accompanying parent company only financial statements 

and independent auditors’ report are not intended for use by those who are not informed about 

the accounting principles or auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China, and 

their applications in practice.  
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     December 31, 2021   December 31, 2020  
 Assets  Note  Amount   %   Amount   %  

 Current Assets                 

1100 Cash and cash equivalents  6(1)  $ 297,485   14   $ 164,700   8  

1150 Notes receivable, net  6(2) and 12   235,908   12    333,978   17  

1160 Notes receivable - related parties  6(2), 7, and 12   23,020   1    4,794   -  

1170 Accounts receivable, net  6(2) and 12   99,756   5    125,328   7  

1180 Accounts receivable - related parties, 

net 

 6(2), 7, and 12 

  33,780   2    60,106   3  

1200 Other receivables     305   -    2,567   -  

1210 Other receivables - related parties  7   400   -    3,661   -  

1220 Current tax assets  6(24)   -   -    145   -  

130X Inventories  5(2) and 6(3)   701,287   34    615,761   31  

1410 Prepayments     9,427   -    9,173   1  

1476 Other financial assets - current  6(1) and 8   -   -    970   -  

11XX Total Current Assets     1,401,368   68    1,321,183   67  

 Non-Current Assets                 

1535 Financial assets measured at 

amortized costs - non-current 

 6(1)(4) 

  86,915   4    -   -  

1600 Property, plant and equipment  6(5), 7 and 8   485,126   24    514,894   26  

1755 Right-of-use assets  6(6) and 8   28,883   2    31,313   2  

1780 Intangible assets  6(7)   4,647   -    6,518   -  

1840 Deferred tax assets  6(24)   18,988   1    21,889   1  

1915 Prepayments for equipment  6(5)(7)   4,823   -    2,500   -  

1920 Refundable deposits     2,150   -    6,226   -  

1930 Long-term notes and accounts 

receivable 

 6(2)(8) and 12 

  15,222   1    51,060   3  

1940 Long-term notes and accounts 

receivable - related parties 

 6(2), 7, and 12 

  -   -    15,314   1  

1990 Other non-current assets - others     454   -    552   -  

15XX Total Non-Current Assets     647,208   32    650,266   33  

1XXX Total Assets    $ 2,048,576   100   $ 1,971,449   100  
(Continued next page)



Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 

Unit: NTD thousand 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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     December 31, 2021   December 31, 2020  

 Liabilities and Equity  Note  Amount   %   Amount   %  

 Current Liabilities                 
2100 Short-term borrowings  6(9) and 8  $ 120,000   6   $ 281,830   14  
2110 Short-term bills payable  6(10)   -   -    39,957   2  
2130 Contract liabilities - current  6(17) and 7   391,189   19    221,352   11  
2150 Notes payable     486   -    273   -  
2160 Notes payable - related parties  7   1,575   -    135   -  
2170 Accounts payable  7   220,516   11    171,177   9  
2200 Other payables  6(11)   85,572   4    73,633   4  
2230 Current tax liabilities  6(24)   11,540   1    8,258   1  
2250 Provisions - Current  6(12)   8,275   -    6,722   -  
2280 Lease liabilities - Current     1,571   -    1,554   -  
21XX Total Current Liabilities     840,724   41    804,891   41  

 Non-Current Liabilities                 
2570 Deferred tax liabilities  6(24)   139,965   7    132,857   7  
2580 Lease liabilities - non-current     13,318   1    14,889   1  
2640 Net defined benefit liabilities - non-

current 
 6(13) 

  28,557   1    26,867   1  

25XX Total Non-Current Liabilities     181,840   9    174,613   9  
2XXX Total Liabilities     1,022,564   50    979,504   50  

 Equity                 

 Share capital                 
3110 Ordinary share capital  6(14)   602,900   29    602,900   30  
3200 Capital surplus  6(15)   259   -    259   -  

 Retained earnings  6(16)               
3310 Statutory reserves     257,463   13    251,571   13  
3320 Special reserve     116,771   6    116,771   6  
3350 Undistributed earnings     104,862   5    74,233   4  
3400 Other equity   (  56,243 ) ( 3 ) (  53,789 ) ( 3 ) 
3XXX Total Equity     1,026,012   50    991,945   50  

 Significant contingent liabilities and 

unrecognized commitments 
 9 

              
3X2X Total Liabilities And Equity    $ 2,048,576   100   $ 1,971,449   100  
 



Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For periods from January 1 to December 31, 2021 and 2020 
Unit: NTD thousand 

(except earnings per share, which are presented in NTD) 
 

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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     2021   2020  

Item  Note  Amount   %   Amount   %  

4000 Operating Revenue  6(17) and 7  $ 1,460,987   100   $ 1,221,097   100  

5000 Operating Cost  6(3)(7)(13)(22) 

(23) and 7 (  1,114,239 ) ( 76 ) (  961,488 ) ( 79 ) 

5900 Gross Profit     346,748   24    259,609   21  

 Operating Expenses  6(7)(13)(22)(23), 

7 and 12               

6100 Selling and marketing expenses   (  110,937 ) ( 7 ) (  82,007 ) ( 7 ) 

6200 General and administrative 

expenses 

  

(  96,842 ) ( 7 ) (  88,234 ) ( 7 ) 

6300 Research and development 

expenses 

  

(  61,322 ) ( 4 ) (  44,106 ) ( 3 ) 

6450 Expected credit (loss) reversal     3,272   -  (  421 )  -  

6000 Total operating expenses   (  265,829 ) ( 18 ) (  214,768 ) ( 17 ) 

6900 Operating Profit     80,919   6    44,841   4  

 Non-Operating Income and 

Expense 

  

              

7100 Interest income  6(2)(4)(8)(18)   12,876   1    9,214   1  

7010 Other income  6(19) and 7   30,719   2    30,806   2  

7020 Other gains or losses  6(20), 7 and 12 (  6,901 ) ( 1 ) (  8,055 ) ( 1 ) 

7050 Finance costs  6(5)(6)(21) (  2,833 )  -  (  4,528 )  -  

7000 Total non-operating income 

and expenses 

  

  33,861   2    27,437   2  

7900 Profit before Income Tax     114,780   8    72,278   6  

7950 Income Tax Expense  6(24) (  31,002 ) ( 2 ) (  15,347 ) ( 2 ) 

8200 Net Profit for the Year    $ 83,778   6   $ 56,931   4  

 Other Comprehensive Income 

(Net) 

  

              

 Items that Will Not Be 

Reclassified Subsequently to 

Profit or Loss 

  

              

8311 Remeasurement of defined 

benefit plan 

 6(13) 

( $ 2,548 )  -   $ 2,492   -  

8349 Income tax on items not 

reclassified into profit and loss 

 6(24) 

  509   -  (  498 )  -  

 Items that May Be Reclassified 

Subsequently to Profit or Loss: 

  

              

8361 Exchange Differences in 

Translating the Financial 

Statements of Foreign 

Operations 

  

(  3,047 ) ( 1 )   7,784   1  

8399 Income tax on items that are 

likely to be reclassified into 

profit and loss 

 6(24) 

  593   -  (  1,542 )  -  

8300 Other Comprehensive Income 

(Net) 

  

( $ 4,493 ) ( 1 )  $ 8,236   1  

8500 Total Comprehensive Income for 

the Year 

  

 $ 79,285   5   $ 65,167   5  

            

 Earnings Per Share  6(25)         

9750 Basic    $ 1.39   $ 0.94  

9850 Dilution    $ 1.39   $ 0.94   



Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

For periods from January 1 to December 31, 2021 and 2020 
Unit: NTD thousand 

 
      
     Capital surplus  Retained earnings  Other equities   

 

Note 

 

Ordinary Share 
Capital 

 

Donated Assets 
Received 

 

Statutory 
Reserves 

 

Special Reserve 

 

Undistributed 
Earnings 

 Exchange 
Differences in 
Translating the 

Financial 
Statements of 

Foreign 
Operations 

 

Total Equity 

 

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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2020                              

  Balance at January 1, 2020    $ 602,900    $ 259    $ 238,594    $ 116,771    $ 130,778   ( $ 60,031 )   $ 1,029,271  

  2020 net income    -    -    -    -    56,931    -    56,931  

  2020 other comprehensive income    -    -    -    -    1,994    6,242    8,236  

  2020 total comprehensive income    -    -    -    -    58,925    6,242    65,167  

  Appropriation and distribution of 2019 earnings:                              

    Statutory reserves    -    -    12,977    -   ( 12,977 )   -    -  

    Cash dividends 6(16)   -    -    -    -   ( 102,493 )   -   ( 102,493 ) 

  Balance as at December 31, 2020    $ 602,900    $ 259    $ 251,571    $ 116,771    $ 74,233   ( $ 53,789 )   $ 991,945  

2021                              

  Balance at January 1, 2021    $ 602,900    $ 259    $ 251,571    $ 116,771    $ 74,233   ( $ 53,789 )   $ 991,945  

  2021 net income    -    -    -    -    83,778    -    83,778  

  2021 other comprehensive income    -    -    -    -   ( 2,039 )  ( 2,454 )  ( 4,493 ) 

  2021 total comprehensive income    -    -    -    -    81,739   ( 2,454 )   79,285  

  Appropriation and distribution of 2020 earnings:                              

    Statutory reserves    -    -    5,892    -   ( 5,892 )   -    -  

    Cash dividends 6(16)   -    -    -    -   ( 45,218 )   -   ( 45,218 ) 

  Balance as at December 31, 2021    $ 602,900    $ 259    $ 257,463    $ 116,771    $ 104,862   ( $ 56,243 )   $ 1,026,012  
  



Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

For periods from January 1 to December 31, 2021 and 2020 
Unit: NTD thousand 

 
  

Note 
  

2021 
    

2020  

             

(Continued next page) 
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities            

Income before income tax    $ 114,780    $ 72,278  

Adjustments            

Adjustments for reconcile profit or loss:            

Expected credit (loss) reversal  12 (  3,272 )    421  

Inventory devaluation (reversal) loss  6(3) (  2,853 )    14,854  

Depreciation expense  6(5)(6)(22)   44,122     46,716  

(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant 

and equipment 

 6(20) 

  548   (  2,269 ) 

Amortization expense  6(7)(22)   2,851     2,620  

Interest income  6(18) (  12,876 )  (  9,214 ) 

Interest expense  6(21)   2,833     4,528  

Change in assets/liabilities related to 

operating activities 

  

         

Net change in assets related to operating 

activities 

  

         

Notes receivable     101,325   (  87,327 ) 

Notes receivable - related parties   (  22,232 )    1,170  

Accounts receivable     25,756     4,863  

Accounts receivable - related parties     26,339   (  15,273 ) 

Other receivables     2,262     1,089  

Other receivables - related parties     1,276   (  1,676 ) 

Inventories   (  82,572 )    8,675  

Prepayments   (  254 )    13,870  

Long-term notes and accounts 

receivable 

  

  35,838     9,560  

Long-term notes and accounts 

receivable - related parties 

  

  15,314   (  5,597 ) 

Net change in liabilities related to 

operating activities 

  

         

Contract liabilities - current     169,837     88,337  

Notes payable     213   (  4,985 ) 

Notes payable - related parties     1,440     135  

Accounts payable     49,339   (  54,141 ) 

Other payables     12,030   (  19,256 ) 

Provisions - Current     1,553   (  1,622 ) 

Net defined benefit liabilities - non-

current 

  

(  858 )  (  1,026 ) 

Cash inflow from operating activities     482,739     66,730  

Interest received     12,876     9,214  

Interest paid   (  2,883 )  (  4,515 ) 

Interests received     145     5,325  



Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

For periods from January 1 to December 31, 2021 and 2020 
Unit: NTD thousand 

 
  

Note 
  

2021 
    

2020  

             

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the parent company only financial statements. 
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Income tax paid   (  16,644 )  (  24,970 ) 

Net cash inflow from operating activities     476,233     51,784  

Cash Flows from Investing Activities            

Other financial assets - decrease (increase) in 

current assets 
  

 $ 970   ( $ 970 ) 

Financial assets measured at amortized costs - 

increase in non-current assets 
 6(4) 

(  86,915 )    -  

Cash paid for purchase of property, plant, and 

equipment 
 6(26) 

(  4,628 )  (  24,339 ) 

Interests paid on purchase of property, plant, and 

equipment 
 6(5)(21)(26) 

  -   (  28 ) 

Proceeds collected from disposal of property, 

plant, and equipment 
 6(26) 

  6,439     4,494  

Acquisition of intangible assets 
 6(7) (  744 )  (  1,805 ) 

Increase in prepayments for equipment 
  (  11,848 )  (  6,079 ) 

(Increase) decrease in refundable deposits paid 
    4,076   (  4,042 ) 

Decrease in other non-current assets - others 
    98     694  

Net cash used in investing activities 
  (  92,552 )  (  32,075 ) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
           

Borrowing of short-term loan 
 6(27)   540,000     931,830  

Repayment of short-term loan 
 6(27) (  701,830 )  (  862,961 ) 

Increase (decrease) in short-term notes and bills 

payable 
 6(27) 

(  40,000 )    30,000  

Repayment of lease principal 
 6(27) (  1,554 )  (  1,538 ) 

Cash dividends paid 
 6(16) (  45,218 )  (  102,493 ) 

Net cash outflow from financing 

activities 
  

(  248,602 )  (  5,162 ) 

Effects of Exchange Rate Changes on the Balance of 

Cash Held in Foreign Currencies 
  

(  2,294 )    4,714  

Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents for the 

Current Period 
  

  132,785     19,261  

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the 

Year 
 6(1) 

  164,700     145,439  

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year 
 6(1)  $ 297,485    $ 164,700  
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

Unit: NTD thousand 

(unless specified otherwise) 

 

I. Company History 

(i) Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. (the "Company") was incorporated in March 1974 in 

accordance with The Company Act and relevant laws of the Republic of China. Its main 

business activities include manufacturing, assembly, and trading of machine tools, chemical 

machines, compressors, screw/bolt/nut formers, and parts. The main business items of the 

company's subsidiaries' are explained in detail in Note 4(3) - Basis of consolidation. 

(ii) Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. holds 47.81% equity ownership in the Company, and is the 

ultimate parent. 

II. Financial Statement Approval Date and Procedures 

This consolidated financial report was passed during the board of directors meeting dated March 8, 

2022. 

III. Application of New and Amended Standards and Interpretations 

(i)  Impacts of adopting new and amended IFRSs approved by the Financial  

Supervisory Commission (FSC)  

The following is a list of new/amended/modified IFRSs and interpretations approved by FSC 

that are applicable for the 2021 financial year: 

New/amended/modified standards and interpretations 

 Effective date of IASB 

announcement 

Amendments to IFRS 4 “Extension of the Temporary Exemption 

from Applying IFRS 9” 

 January 1, 2021 

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4, and IFRS 16, 

"Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2" 

 January 1, 2021 

Amendment to IFRS 16 "COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions 

Beyond June 30, 2021". 

 April 1, 2021 (note) 

Note: FSC has given its permission to bring forward the adoption to January 1, 2021. 

After a thorough assessment, the Group expects no material financial or performance impact 

from the above standards and interpretations. 

(ii)  Impacts of adopting new and amended IFRSs not yet approved by FSC 

The following is a list of new/amended/modified IFRSs and interpretations approved by FSC 

that are applicable for the 2022 financial year: 

 

New/amended/modified standards and interpretations 

 Effective date of IASB 

announcement 

Amendments to IFRS 3, "Reference to the Conceptual Framework"  January 1, 2022 

Amendments to IAS 16, "Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds  January 1, 2022 
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before Intended Use" 

Amendments to IAS 37, "Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a 

Contract" 

 

January 1, 2022 

Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020  January 1, 2022 

After a thorough assessment, the Group expects no material financial or performance impact 

from the above standards and interpretations. 

(iii)  Impacts of IFRS changes announced by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) but 

not yet approved by FSC 

The following is a list of new/amended/modified IFRSs announced by IASB but not approved 

by FSC: 

New/amended/modified standards and interpretations 

 Effective date of IASB 

announcement 

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 "Sale or contribution of assets 

between an investor and its associate or joint venture”  

 To be determined by 

IASB 

IFRS 17, “Insurance Contracts”  January 1, 2023 

Amendments to IFRS 17, "Insurance Contracts"  January 1, 2023 

Amendment to IFRS 17, "Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 

- Comparative Information" 

 January 1, 2023 

Amendments to IAS 1, "Classification of Liabilities as Current or 

Non-current" 

 

January 1, 2023 

Amendments to IAS 1, "Disclosure of Accounting Policies"  January 1, 2023 

Amendments to IAS 8, "Definition of Accounting Estimates"  January 1, 2023 

Amendment to IAS 12, "Deferred Tax Related to Assets and 

Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction". 

 January 1, 2023 

After a thorough assessment, the Group expects no material financial or performance impact 

from the above standards and interpretations. 

IV. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Below is a summary of significant accounting policies used for the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements. Unless otherwise stated, the following policies were applied consistently in all 

reporting periods. 

(i)  Statement of compliance 

This consolidated financial report has been prepared in accordance with Regulations Governing 

the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and FSC-approved IFRS, IAS and 

interpretations thereof (collectively referred to as IFRSs below). 

(ii)  Basis of preparation 

1. Other than defined benefit liabilities, which are recognized by deducting the present value of 

defined benefit obligations from pension plan assets, the consolidated financial report is 

prepared based on historical costs. 

2. Preparation of FSC-approved IFRSs-compliant consolidated financial report involves some 

use of critical accounting estimates. The management is required to exercise some judgment 

when applying the Group's accounting policies. Please refer to Note 5 critical accounting 

judgments, estimates and key sources of uncertainty assumption for more detailed 

explanations to highly complex and significant assumptions and estimates made in relation 
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to the consolidated financial report. 

(iii)  Basis of consolidation 

1. Basis of preparation for consolidated financial report 

(1) The Group includes all subsidiaries for the preparation of consolidated financial reports. 

A subsidiary refers to an entity (including a structured entity) in which the Group 

exercises control. The Group is considered to exercise control if it is exposed or entitled 

to variable returns generated by the entity and has the power to influence such return. 

Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial report from the day the Group 

gains control and removed from the day control is lost. 

(2) Any transactions, balances and unrealized gains/losses between companies of the same 

group have been eliminated. The subsidiaries have made the necessary adjustments to 

align their accounting policies with that of the Group. 

(3) All compositions of profit and loss and other comprehensive income are attributable to 

parent company shareholders and non-controlling shareholders. At the same time, the 

total comprehensive income is also attributable to parent company shareholders and non-

controlling shareholders, even if doing so would cause non-controlling shareholders to 

suffer losses. 

(4) Transfers of equity ownership in a subsidiary with non-controlling shareholders that do 

not result in a loss of control are accounted as equity transactions and treated as 

transactions between business owners. The difference between the adjusted amount in 

non-controlling equity and the fair value of the consideration paid/received is directly 

recognized as equity. 

(5) When the Group loses control in a subsidiary, remaining investments in the former 

subsidiary are remeasured at fair value and presented as the initial fair value of the 

reclassified financial asset or the reclassified associated company's cost or joint venture. 

Differences between the fair value and the book value are recognized in the current period 

of profit and loss. All amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in 

relation to the subsidiary are accounted for on the same basis as if the Group had directly 

disposed of the relevant assets or liabilities. In other words, if gains or losses previously 

recognized in other comprehensive income are to be reclassified from equity into profit 

and loss upon disposal of relevant assets or liabilities, such gains or losses shall be 

reclassified into profit and loss when the Group loses control in the subsidiary. 

2. Subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial report 

      Shareholding percentage   

Name of Investor  Name of Subsidiary  Business Activities  

December 31, 

 2021  

December 31, 

 2020  Explanation 

Chun Zu Machinery 

Industry Co., Ltd. 

 Lion City 

Management Ltd. 

 Professional 

investment 

institution 

 100.00  100.00  － 

Lion City 

Management Ltd. 

 Shanghai Chun Zu 

Machinery 

Industry Co., Ltd. 

 Manufacturing and 

trading of 

machinery 

 100.00  100.00  － 

3. Subsidiaries not included in the consolidated financial statements: None. 

4. Methods for aligning subsidiaries' accounting periods: None. 

5. Significant limitations: None. 
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6. Subsidiaries with non-controlling owners that are significant to the Group: None. 

(iv)  Foreign currency conversion 

All items listed in the financial report of every entity within the Group are measured using the 

currency of the main economic environment where the respective entity operates (i.e. the 

functional currency). This consolidated financial report is presented using the Company's 

functional currency - "NTD." 

1. Foreign currency transaction and balance 

(1) Foreign currency transactions are converted into the functional currency using the spot 

exchange rate as at the transaction date or measurement date. Differences arising from 

the conversion of such transactions are recognized in current profit and loss. 

(2) Balances of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 

converted using the spot exchange rate as at the balance sheet date. Differences arising 

from exchange rate fluctuation are recognized as current period gain or loss. 

(3) For non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, those that are 

carried at fair value through profit and loss will have balances converted using the spot 

exchange rate as at the balance sheet date, and any exchange differences arising from 

the adjustment will be recognized in current profit and loss; those that are carried at fair 

value through other comprehensive income will have balances converted using the spot 

exchange rate as at the balance sheet date, and any exchange differences arising from 

the adjustment will be recognized in other comprehensive income; those that are not 

carried at fair value will have balances converted using the historical exchange rate 

applicable at the time when the transaction was initiated. 

(4) All gains and losses on exchange are presented as "Other gains and losses" in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

2. Currency conversion for foreign operations 

(1) For associated companies that have functional currency different from the presentation 

currency, performance results and financial position are converted into the presentation 

currency using the following methods: 

A. Every asset and liability in the balance sheet is converted using the exchange rate as 

at the balance sheet date; 

B. Every income, expense and loss in the statement of comprehensive income is 

converted using the average exchange rate for the given period; and 

C. All exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income. 

(2) In a partial disposal or sale of a foreign subsidiary, cumulative exchange differences 

previously recognized under Other comprehensive income are reclassified 

proportionally and made attributable to non-controlling shareholders of a foreign 

operation. However, if the Group still retains partial equity ownership but loses control 

over the former subsidiary, the exchange differences are accounted as if the Company 

has disposed of all equity of the foreign operation. 

(v)  Classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities 

1. Assets that satisfy any of the following criteria are classified as current assets: 

(1) Assets that are expected to be realized, or intended to be sold or consumed, over the 

normal operating cycle. 

(2) Held mainly for the purpose of trading. 
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(3) Assets that are expected to be realized within 12 months after the balance sheet date. 

(4) Cash or cash equivalents, except those that will be swapped or used to repay liabilities at 

least 12 months from the balance sheet date, and those with restricted uses. 

The Group classifies all assets that do not satisfy the above criteria as non-current assets. 

2. Liabilities that satisfy any of the following criteria are classified as current liabilities: 

(1) Liabilities that are expected to be settled over the normal operating cycle. 

(2) Held mainly for the purpose of trading. 

(3) Liabilities that are due to be settled within 12 months after the balance sheet date. 

(4) Liabilities with repayment terms that can not be extended unconditionally for more than 

12 months after the balance sheet date. Classification of liability is unaffected even if 

there are terms that give counterparties the option to be repaid in equity instruments. 

The Group classifies all liabilities that do not satisfy the above criteria as non-current 

liabilities. 

(vi)  Cash equivalents 

1. Cash equivalent refers to short-term and highly liquid investments that are readily 

convertible into known amounts of cash and are prone to an insignificant risk of value 

changes. 

2. Time deposits that meet the abovementioned definitions and are held for the purpose of 

meeting short-term cash commitments are stated as cash equivalents. 

(vii)  Financial assets measured at amortized costs 

1. refers to those which meet the following conditions at the same time: 

(1) The financial asset is held under the business model for the purpose of collecting 

contractual cash flow. 

(2) The contractual terms of the financial asset generate cash flow on a specific date, which 

is entirely the payment of principal and interest on the outstanding principal amount. 

2. The Group holds time deposits that do not conform to cash equivalents; due to the short 

holding period, the impact of discount is insignificant, and they are measured by the amount 

of investment. 

(viii)  Accounts and notes receivable 

1. Refers to accounts and notes that the Company may collect unconditionally as consideration 

for the transfer of merchandise or rendering of service, according to the terms of the 

respective contracts. 

2. The Group recognizes initial balance at fair value; subsequent interest income is recognized 

using the effective interest method and amortized over the duration of the outstanding 

balance. Impairment losses are recognized when incurred. All gains and losses associated 

with the account are recognized through profit and loss. However, short-term accounts and 

notes receivable that bear no interest are subsequently measured at the original invoice 

amount as the effect of discounting is insignificant. 

(ix)  Impairment of financial assets 

Accounts receivable or contract assets with significant financing components are evaluated on 
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every balance sheet date by taking into account all reasonable and verifiable information 

(including prospective information). Assets that exhibit no significant increase in credit risk 

after initial recognition have loss reserves measured based on 12-month expected credit loss; 

those that exhibit a significant increase in credit risk after initial recognition have loss reserves 

measured based on expected credit loss over the remaining duration. Accounts receivable or 

contract assets that do not contain significant financing components have loss reserves 

measured based on expected credit loss over the remaining duration. 

(x)  Removal of financial assets 

Financial assets that satisfy any of the following criteria are removed: 

1. When entitlement to contractual cash inflow has ended. 

2. When the contractual right to collect cash flow on the financial asset has been transferred 

along with virtually all risks and returns associated with ownership of the financial asset. 

3. When the contractual right to collect cash flow on the financial asset has been transferred, 

the Company does not retain control over the financial asset. 

(xi)  Inventories 

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The amount in cost is 

determined using the weighted average method. The cost of finished goods and work-in-

progress includes raw material, direct labor, other direct costs and production-related 

overheads (allocated based on normal production capacity) but excludes borrowing costs. 

The lower of cost or net realizable value is compared on an item-by-item basis. Net realizable 

value refers to the remainder of the estimated selling price after deducting variable selling 

expenses over the normal operating cycle and estimated costs to completion. 

(xii)  Property, plant and equipment 

1. All property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost; all interests incurred during 

construction are capitalized. 

2. Subsequent costs incurred are added to book value or recognized as separate assets only 

when future economic benefits associated with the costs are likely to be realized by the 

Group. Such costs can be reliably measured. Book values of replaced components are 

removed from the balance sheet. All other maintenance expenses are recognized in current 

profit and loss when incurred. 

3. Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured using the cost method, with 

depreciation recognized over the estimated useful life using the straight-line method 

except for land, which is not depreciated. Significant compositions of property, plant, and 

equipment are depreciated separately. 

4. The Group reviews the residual value, useful life and depreciation method of all assets at 

the end of each financial year. If the residual value or useful life differs from the previous 

estimate, or if there is any material change to how an asset's future economic benefit is 

realized, the difference would be treated as a change in accounting estimate according to 

IAS 8 - "Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors" from the day 

the change occurs. The useful lives of various asset categories are as follows:  
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Name of Asset  Useful Life 

Buildings   
- Main plant buildings  16〜51 years 

- Others  5〜36 years 

Machinery  4〜11 years 

Utility equipment  5〜16 years 

Transport equipment  4〜7 years 

Office equipment  3〜10 years 

Other equipment  3〜11 years 

 

(xiii)  Lease transaction as a lessee - right-of-use assets/lease liabilities 

1. The Group recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the day lease asset 

becomes available for use. For short-term lease and lease of low-value asset, lease 

payments are expensed using the straight-line method over the lease tenor. 

2. Lease liability is recognized on the lease start date as the present value of outstanding lease 

payments discounted at the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments include: 

(1) Regular payments, less any lease incentives receivable; 

(2) Penalties that have to be paid upon termination of the lease, if the lease tenor reflects 

the lessee's intent to exercise the termination option. 

Leases are subsequently measured at cost after amortization using the interest approach 

with interest expenses provided over the lease tenor. Lease liabilities will be re-evaluated 

for any change in lease tenor or lease payment that is not caused by modification of 

contract terms. In which case, the amount in remeasurement will be adjusted to right-of-

use assets. 

3. Right-of-use assets are recognized at cost on the lease start date. The cost includes: 

(1) Initial measured amount in lease liability; 

(2) Any lease payment made on or before the lease start date; 

(3) Any direct cost incurred at initiation; and 

(4) Estimated cost to dismantle, remove, and restore the underlying asset at its original 

location or to restore the underlying asset to the state specified in terms and conditions 

of the lease agreement.  

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured using the cost approach with depreciation 

expenses provided over the useful life or lease tenor, whichever expires the earlier. When 

lease liability is re-assessed, the right-of-use asset is adjusted for any remeasurement made 

to lease liability.  

(xiv)  Intangible asset 

Computer software is carried at acquisition cost and amortized using the straight-line method 

over an estimated useful life of 3-6 years. 

(xv)  Impairment of non-financial assets 

For assets that show signs of impairment on the balance sheet date, the Group first estimates 

the recoverable amount in such assets. It recognizes impairment losses if the recoverable 

amount is lower than the book value. The recoverable amount refers to the higher of an asset's 



  

~23~ 

fair value net of disposal cost or its utilization value. Impairment losses previously 

recognized can be reversed if asset impairment no longer exists or has been reduced. 

However, the reversal of impairment loss shall not increase the asset's book value above the 

amount in book value after depreciation/amortization if the impairment loss had not occurred 

in the first place. 

(xvi)  Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognized at fair value less transaction costs at initiation. Any subsequent 

differences between proceeds net of transaction cost and the redemption value are recognized 

as interest expenses in profit and loss using the effective interest rate method over the 

duration of the borrowing. 

(xvii)  Accounts and notes payable 

Refers to liabilities arising from purchases of raw material, merchandise, or service on credit 

and notes payable on operating and non-operating activities. However, short-term accounts 

and notes payable that bear no interest are subsequently measured at the original invoice 

amount as the effect of discounting is insignificant. 

(xviii)  Removal of financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are removed when the Group's contractual obligations have been fulfilled, 

canceled or are expired. 

(xix) Provisions 

Provisions are obligations that the Company is legally liable or deemed liable to fulfill due 

to a past event. The Company is very likely to incur an outflow of economic benefit or 

resource to settle such an obligation. Provisions are recognized when the amount in 

obligation can be estimated reliably. Provisions represent the Company's best estimate of the 

present value of all future obligations that the Company is liable to settle as at the balance 

sheet date. The discount rate used is a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the market's current 

perception of the time value of currency and risks associated with the specific liability. The 

amount in discount is amortized and recognized as an interest expense. No provision is made 

on future operating losses. 

(xx) Employee benefits 

1. Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are measured as non-discounted amounts expected to be 

paid in the future and are recognized as expenses when relevant service is rendered. 

2. Pension 

(1)  Defined contribution plan 

For defined contribution plans, the contributions payable to pension funds are 

recognized as pension costs in the year that occurred on an accrual basis. Prepaid 

contributions that are refundable in cash or can be offset against future payments are 

recognized as assets. 

(2)  Defined benefit plan 

A. Net obligations under a defined benefit plan are calculated by discounting 

employees' future benefits earned from current or previous services rendered. By 
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deducting the fair value of plan assets from the present value of defined benefit 

obligations at the balance sheet. Net defined benefit obligations are calculated 

by actuaries on a yearly basis using the projected unit credit method. The 

discount rate is determined in reference to the market yield of government bonds 

of the same currency and equivalent tenor as the defined benefit plan (as at the 

balance sheet date). 

B. Remeasurement of defined benefit plan is recognized in other comprehensive 

income in the period occurred, and presented under retained earnings. 

3. Employee and director remuneration 

Employees' and directors' remuneration are recognized as expense and liability when the 

Company becomes legally obligated or is deemed obligated to pay, and that the amount 

can be reasonably estimated. Any differences between the amount estimated and the 

amount resolved/paid are treated as a change of accounting estimate. Where employee 

remuneration is paid in shares, the number of shares payable is calculated according to 

IFRS 2 - "Share-based Payment," which requires the use of valuation techniques to 

determine the fair value of such payment. 

(xxi) Income tax 

1. Income tax expenses include current and deferred income tax. Income taxes are 

recognized in profit and loss, except for certain items that must be recognized in other 

comprehensive income or presented directly as equity items. 

2. The Group calculates current income tax using statutory tax rate applicable at countries 

of operation and generates taxable income as at the balance sheet date. The 

management regularly assesses income tax filing based on applicable income tax laws 

and estimates income tax liabilities for the estimated amount in tax payable to the 

authority. Unappropriated earnings are subject to additional income tax according to 

the Income Tax Act. This additional tax is recognized in the year after earning is 

generated, when the earnings appropriation proposal is passed in a shareholder meeting. 

The amount in earnings retained can be ascertained. 

3. Deferred income tax is accounted using the balance sheet method and recognized on 

taxable temporary differences that arise between the taxable basis and book value of 

assets and liabilities shown in the consolidated balance sheet. Deferred income tax 

liabilities are not recognized upon initial recognition of goodwill. No deferred income 

tax liability is recognized upon initial recognition of an asset or liability (except in the 

case of business combination) if, at the time of the transaction, it affects neither 

accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss). Temporary differences arising from 

investment in subsidiaries are not recognized as income tax asset/liability if the Group 

is able to control the timing at which temporary difference is reversed and that the 

temporary difference is unlikely to be reversed in the foreseeable future. Deferred 

income taxes are calculated using the tax rate (and tax law) applicable on the day 

deferred income tax assets/liabilities are expected to be realized/settled, based on 

prevailing laws as at the balance sheet date. 

4. Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent that temporary differences are 

likely to offset future taxable income. Unrecognized and recognized deferred income 

tax assets are re-assessed on each balance sheet date. 

5. The Company will offset current income tax assets against current income tax liability 
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and settle on a netted basis or realize both at the same time only if it intends and is 

legally entitled to do so. The Company will offset deferred income tax assets against 

deferred income tax liabilities and settle on a netted basis or realize both at the same 

time only if it has the intent and is legally entitled to do so, and that the deferred income 

tax assets/liabilities are attributable to the same tax authority and the same taxpayer, or 

different taxpayers with a mutual intent to settle on a netted basis. 

(xxii) Share capital 

Common share capital is classified as equity. Costs directly associated with the issuance 

of new shares or warrants are presented net of income tax under equity as a contra item to 

the proceeds received. 

(xxiii) Dividend distribution 

When allocating dividends to shareholders, the Company recognizes cash dividends as a 

liability on its financial report when the board of directors passes the resolution. It 

recognizes stock dividends pending distribution when the resolution is passed in a 

shareholder meeting and recognizes additional common share capital on the baseline date 

of new shares. 

(xxiv) Revenue recognition 

Sale of product 

1. Sales revenues are recognized when control of the product is transferred to the customer; 

or in other words, when product is delivered to the customer and the Group has no 

outstanding obligation that would otherwise prevent the customer from accepting or 

exercising rights over the product. 

2. Sales revenues are recognized at contract price net of estimated sales tax, sales return, 

and discount. Revenues are recognized to the extent that significant reversal is highly 

unlikely to occur in the future; the likelihood of reversal is re-evaluated and updated 

on each balance sheet date. Sales proceeds are collected according to the terms of 

individual sales contract for machinery and equipment, including 1~2 years for 

installment sales (1~3 years in 2020), or 3~4 months for parts and accessories. 

3. Accounts receivable are recognized when products are delivered to the customer 

because this is the point of time when the Group gains unconditional rights to 

contractual proceeds and is entitled to collect consideration from customers simply 

through the passage of time. 

(xxv) Government subsidies 

Government subsidies are recognized at fair value when the Company has reasonable 

assurance towards fulfilling the government's subsidy criteria and receiving the subsidy. 

For government subsidies aimed to reimburse expenses incurred, the Group will recognize 

government subsidies through current profit and loss in a systematic manner when 

relevant expenses are incurred. 

(xxvi) Operating segments 

The Group's segment information is prepared according to what the decision makers rely 

on for internal management. The decision maker is responsible for allocating resources to 

various operating segments and evaluating performance. 
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V. Critical Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Key Sources of Uncertainty Assumption 

The management had exercised judgment to determine which accounting policies to adopt when 

preparing the consolidated financial report. It made accounting estimates and assumptions based on 

prevailing circumstances and reasonable expectations toward future events as at the balance sheet 

date. The critical accounting estimates and assumptions made can differ from the actual result, which 

the management will continually evaluate and adjust based on historical experience and other factors. 

These estimates and assumptions may result in significant adjustments to the book value of assets and 

liabilities in the next financial year. Uncertainties associated with critical accounting judgments, 

estimates, and assumptions are explained below: 

(i)  Critical judgments adopted for accounting policies 

None. 

(ii)  Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

Valuation of inventory 

Since inventory is presented at the lower of cost or net realizable value, the Group is required 

to exercise judgment and make estimates in order to determine the net realizable value of 

inventory as at the balance sheet date. Due to changes in market demand and technology, the 

Group would assess inventory at each balance sheet date for any decrease in sales value due to 

normal wear, obsolescence, or absence of market demand, and reduce inventory cost to net 

realizable value accordingly. This inventory valuation is done by estimating product demand 

within a specific period of time in the future, which may give rise to significant changes. 

Book value of the Group's inventory as at December 31, 2021 totaled $701,287. 

VI. Notes to Major Accounts 

(i)  Cash and cash equivalents 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Cash:      
Petty cash $ 309  $ 468 

Check deposit  626   628 

Demand deposit  290,811   157,708 

  291,746   158,804 

Cash equivalents:      
Time deposit  5,739   5,896 

 $ 297,485  $ 164,700 

1. All financial institutions that the Group deals with are of strong credit background. The Group 

also diversifies credit risk by dealing with multiple financial institutions at the same time and 

therefore is unlikely to suffer from the default of a financial institution. 

2. The Group transferred the fixed deposit of $86,915 with a maturity of more than one year to 

"financial assets measured at amortized cost - non current" on December 31, 2021. There 

was no such transaction on December 31, 2020. 

3. The Company participated in the Foundational R&D Program of the Ministry of Economic 

Affairs on December 31, 2020, and was required to present a banker's guarantee to serve as 

a performance bond. Restrictions were placed on $970 of cash and cash equivalents for this 

purpose, and the restricted cash was presented as "Other financial assets - current." As at 

December 31, 2021, the Company had not placed any cash or cash equivalent as collateral. 
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(ii)  Notes and accounts receivable, net 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Notes receivable $ 166,903  $ 258,309 
Installment notes receivable  74,361   84,983 

  241,264   343,292 
Less: Unrealized interest income ( 5,104)  ( 5,807) 

Loss provisions ( 252)  ( 3,507) 

 $ 235,908  $ 333,978 

Accounts receivable $ 71,401  $ 92,945 
Installment accounts receivable  31,755   35,890 

  103,156   128,835 
Less: Unrealized interest income ( 1,047)  ( 970) 

Loss provisions ( 2,353)  ( 2,537) 

 $ 99,756  $ 125,328 

 

1. Notes and accounts receivable (including related parties) aging analysis: 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

 Notes 

receivable 
 Accounts 

receivable 
 Notes 

receivable 
 Accounts 

receivable 

Current $ 264,896  $ 130,475  $ 348,087  $ 178,924 
Overdue within 30 

days  -   1,430   -   9,709 
Overdue between 

31~90 days  -   4,130   -   3,343 
Overdue between 

91~180 days  -   534   -   629 
Overdue for 181 days 

and above  -   1,567   -   29 

 $ 264,896  $ 138,136  $ 348,087  $ 192,634 

 

The above aging analysis has been prepared based on the number of days overdue. 

2. Balances of notes and accounts receivable (including related parties) as at December 31, 2021 

and 2020 arose entirely from contractual arrangements with customers. Balance of 

contractual proceeds receivable from customers (including related parties) as at January 1, 

2020 was $436,425. 

3. The Group assesses that some notes receivable (bank acceptance notes) transferred to other 

parties by endorsement meet the requirements for the exclusion from financial assets. If the 

acceptor (acceptance bank) refuses to pay when due, the Group has the obligation of the 

endorser to pay off. However, the credit rating of the acceptor above (acceptance bank) is 

high, and the Group does not expect the acceptor (acceptance bank) to refuse to pay under 

general circumstances. The Group's excluded notes receivable (bank acceptance notes) that 

have been endorsed and transferred to other parties but not yet due on December 31, 2021 

and 2020 were $19,941 and $8,893 respectively. 

4. The Group had not placed accounts receivable as collateral as at December 31, 2021 and 

2020. 
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5. In the absence of collaterals and other credit enhancements, maximum credit risk exposure is 

represented by the book value of notes and accounts receivable as at December 31, 2021 and 

2020. 

6. In 2021 and 2020, the total amount of the interest income (from installment notes receivable, 

installment accounts receivable, and long-term notes and accounts receivable) recognized 

through profit and loss was $12,222 and $8,795 respectively. 

7. For credit risk information on notes and accounts receivable, please refer to Note 12(2) 

Financial instruments. 

(iii)  Inventories 

 December 31, 2021 

 Cost  Allowance for Devaluation  Book Value 

Raw materials $ 154,397  ($ 25,753)  $ 128,644 

Supplies  66,315  ( 10,371)   55,944 

Work-in-progress  516,082  ( 23,556)   492,526 

Finished goods  33,453  ( 9,280)   24,173 

 $ 770,247  ($ 68,960)  $ 701,287 

 

  

 December 31, 2020 

 Cost  Allowance for 

Devaluation 
 Book amount 

Raw materials $ 121,194  ($ 22,742)  $ 98,452 

Supplies  61,415  ( 10,399)   51,016 

Work-in-progress  445,061  ( 29,600)   415,461 

Finished goods  60,005  ( 9,173)   50,832 

 $ 687,675  ($ 71,914)  $ 615,761 

 

Cost of inventory recognized as expenses or losses in the current period: 

 2021  2020 

Cost of inventory sold $ 1,108,081  $ 946,800 

Warranty cost  10,890  ( 252) 

Processing cost   -   224 

Inventory devaluation (reversal) loss (note) ( 2,853)   14,854 

Loss on stock-take   -   36 

Income from the sale of scraps and waste ( 1,928)  ( 524) 

Other operating costs  49   350 

 $ 1,114,239  $ 961,488 

(Note) In 2021, the Group sold and used the inventories that had been provided for devaluation 

losses in previous years, resulting in a gain from inventory devaluation reversal, which 

was recognized as a deduction of cost of goods sold. 

(iv)  Financial assets measured at amortized costs 

Item    December 31, 2021 

Non-current items     
Time deposits maturing in more than one 

year 
  

$ 86,915 
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There was no such transaction on December 31, 2020. 

1. The Group's interest income recognized in the current profit and loss from financial assets 

measured at amortized cost in 2021 was $152. 

2. In the absence of collaterals and other credit enhancements, maximum credit risk exposure is 

represented by the book value of notes and accounts receivable as at December 31, 2021. 

3. For credit risk information on notes and accounts receivable, please refer to Note 12(2) 

Financial instruments. 
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(v)  Property, plant and equipment 

 
Land  Buildings  Machinery  

Utility 

Equipment  
Transport 

Equipment  
Office 

Equipment  
Other 

Equipment  Total 
January 1, 2021                        
Cost $ 193,599  $ 448,392  $ 399,984  $ 22,306  $ 25,844  $ 15,175  $ 22,304  $ 1,127,604 
Accumulated 

depreciation  -  ( 247,156)  ( 302,348)  ( 13,190)  ( 19,005)  ( 11,452)  ( 19,559)  ( 612,710) 

 $ 193,599  $ 201,236  $ 97,636  $ 9,116  $ 6,839  $ 3,723  $ 2,745  $ 514,894 

2021                        
January 1 $ 193,599  $ 201,236  $ 97,636  $ 9,116  $ 6,839  $ 3,723  $ 2,745  $ 514,894 
Addition  -   1,152   367   -   2,065   227   819   4,630 
Reclassification from 

prepayment for 

equipment purchase  -   -   9,110   -   151   -   -   9,261 
Depreciation expense  -  ( 14,901)  ( 21,165)  ( 1,074)  ( 2,220)  ( 1,493)  ( 912)  ( 41,765) 
Disposal - Cost  -  ( 6,724)  ( 6,604)  ( 1,373)  ( 3,081)  ( 1,110)  ( 717)  ( 19,609) 

Accumulated 

depreciation  -   6,724   6,303   1,373   2,419   1,071   717   18,607 
Net exchange difference  -  ( 467)  ( 385)   -  ( 17)  ( 13)  ( 10)  ( 892) 
December 31 $ 193,599  $ 187,020  $ 85,262  $ 8,042  $ 6,156  $ 2,405  $ 2,642  $ 485,126 

December 31, 2021                        
Cost $ 193,599  $ 441,691  $ 401,489  $ 20,934  $ 24,920  $ 14,230  $ 22,368  $ 1,119,231 
Accumulated 

depreciation  -  ( 254,671)  ( 316,227)  ( 12,892)  ( 18,764)  ( 11,825)  ( 19,726)  ( 634,105) 

 $ 193,599  $ 187,020  $ 85,262  $ 8,042  $ 6,156  $ 2,405  $ 2,642  $ 485,126 

 

 

 



  

~31~ 

 

Land  Buildings  Machinery  
Utility 

Equipment  
Transport 

Equipment  
Office 

Equipment  
Other 

Equipment  

Equipment 

Pending 

Inspection 

and 

Construction 

in Progress  Total 
January 1, 2020                           
Cost $ 193,599  $ 416,761  $ 420,181  $ 14,619  $ 26,612  $ 13,893  $ 22,918  $ 29,827  $ 1,138,410 
Accumulated depreciation  -  ( 230,111)  ( 306,528)  ( 12,349)  ( 19,238)  ( 10,489)  ( 20,512)   -  ( 599,227) 

 $ 193,599  $ 186,650  $ 113,653  $ 2,270  $ 7,374  $ 3,404  $ 2,406  $ 29,827  $ 539,183 

2020                           
January 1 $ 193,599  $ 186,650  $ 113,653  $ 2,270  $ 7,374  $ 3,404  $ 2,406  $ 29,827  $ 539,183 
Addition  -   781   10,573   -   1,632   861   904   5,254   20,005 
Reclassification from 

inspection  -   27,369   -   7,712   -   -   -  ( 35,081)   - 
Reclassification from 

prepayment for 

equipment purchase  -   -   4,860   -   -   470   255   -   5,585 
Depreciation expense  -  ( 15,112)  ( 24,827)  ( 866)  ( 1,786)  ( 1,023)  ( 752)   -  ( 44,366) 
Disposal - Cost  -  ( 412)  ( 40,259)  ( 25)  ( 2,610)  ( 250)  ( 1,893)   -  ( 45,449) 

Accumulated 

depreciation  -   405   32,567   25   2,199   235   1,808   -   37,239 
Net exchange difference  -   1,555   1,069   -   30   26   17   -   2,697 
December 31 $ 193,599  $ 201,236  $ 97,636  $ 9,116  $ 6,839  $ 3,723  $ 2,745  $ -  $ 514,894 

December 31, 2020                           
Cost $ 193,599  $ 448,392  $ 399,984  $ 22,306  $ 25,844  $ 15,175  $ 22,304  $ -  $ 1,127,604 
Accumulated depreciation  -  ( 247,156)  ( 302,348)  ( 13,190)  ( 19,005)  ( 11,452)  ( 19,559)   -  ( 612,710) 

 $ 193,599  $ 201,236  $ 97,636  $ 9,116  $ 6,839  $ 3,723  $ 2,745  $ -  $ 514,894 
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1. All property, plant, and equipment as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 were utilized by the 

Group. 

2. Amount and rate of capitalized interest for property, plant and equipment: 

 2020 

Amount capitalized $ 28 

Capitalization rate range  1.12% 

There was no such transaction in 2021. 

3. Please refer to Note 8 “Pledged asset”s for information on property, plant and equipment 

placed as collateral as at December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

(vi)  Leases - as a lessee 

1. Land (including land at Dayong Section, Gangshan District, Kaohsiung City, and right-of-

use of land in Baihe Town, Shanghai, The People's Republic of China) was the asset leased 

by the Group. Tenor of the lease contracts ranged from 12 to 50 years. Lease contracts were 

individually negotiated and drafted with different terms and conditions with no additional 

restriction. 

2. Book value of right-of-use assets and recognized amounts of depreciation expense are 

presented below: 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

 Book Value  Book Value 

Land $ 28,883  $ 31,313 

 
2021 

 
2020 

 Depreciation Expense  Depreciation Expense 

Land $ 2,357  $ 2,350 

3. Additional amounts of right-of-use assets in 2021 and 2020 were both $-. 

4. Income and expenses relating to lease agreements are presented below: 

 
2021 

 
2020 

Current income/expense accounts 

affected 
     

Interest expense from lease liabilities 
$ 166  $ 182 

5. Amounts of cash outflow incurred from leases in 2021 and 2020 were both $1,720. 

6. Refer to Note 8 “Pledged assets” for details on right-of-use assets the Group placed as 

collaterals as at December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
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(vii)  Intangible asset 

 2021  2020 

January 1      
Original cost $ 20,316  $ 18,180 
Accumulated amortization ( 13,798)  ( 11,096) 

 $ 6,518  $ 7,084 

January 1 $ 6,518  $ 7,084 
Addition  744   1,805 
Reclassification from prepayment for 

equipment purchase  264   192 
Amortization ( 2,851)  ( 2,620) 
Reduction - Cost ( 7,428)   - 

- Accumulated amortization  7,428   - 
Net exchange difference ( 28)   57 
December 31 $ 4,647  $ 6,518 

December 31      
Original cost $ 13,848  $ 20,316 
Accumulated amortization ( 9,201)  ( 13,798) 

 $ 4,647  $ 6,518 

 

1. There was no capitalization of interest in 2021 or 2020. 

2. Detailed breakdown on amortization of intangible assets: 

 2021  2020 

Operating cost $ 438  $ 217 
Selling and marketing expenses  191   189 
Management expenses  802   852 

Research and development expenses  1,420   1,362 

 $ 2,851  $ 2,620 

 

3. The Group had not placed intangible assets as collateral as at December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

(viii)  Long-term notes and accounts receivable 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Long-term notes receivable $ 15,094  $ 49,179 
Long-term installment accounts 

receivable  2,733   8,171 

  17,827   57,350 
Less: Unrealized interest income ( 2,605)  ( 6,290) 

 $ 15,222  $ 51,060 

 

1. All of the Group's long-term notes and accounts receivable have been granted according to a 
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set of credit standards developed based on counterparties' industry characteristics, business 

size, and profitability. 

2. The Group did not have any long-term notes receivable or long-term installment accounts 

receivable (including related parties) that were overdue as at December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

3. Balances of long-term notes receivable and long-term installment accounts receivable 

(including related parties) as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 arose entirely from contractual 

arrangements with customers. Balance of long-term notes and accounts receivable (including 

related parties) from customers as at January 1, 2020 was $77,317. 

4. For details on interest income recognized in profit and loss in 2021 and 2020, please refer to 

Note 6(2) - Notes and accounts receivable. 

5. The Group had not placed long-term accounts receivable as collateral as at December 31, 

2021 and 2020. 

6. In the absence of collaterals and other credit enhancements, maximum credit risk exposure is 

represented by the book value of long-term notes receivable and long-term installment 

accounts receivable as at December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

7. For credit risk information on long-term notes and accounts receivable, please refer to Note 

12(2) - Financial instruments. 

(ix)  Short-term borrowings 

Nature of Loan  December 31, 2021  
Interest Rate 

Range  Collateral 
Bank loans        

Unsecured loans  $ 120,000  0.52%〜0.98%  None 

Nature of Loan  December 31, 2020  
Interest Rate 

Range  Collateral 
Bank loans        

Unsecured loans  $ 260,000  0.77%〜1.07%  None 

Secured loans  $ 21,830  4.05%  Note 

  $ 281,830     

 

(Note) Please refer to Note 8 - Pledged assets for more details on collaterals placed for the above 

short-term borrowings. 

1. For details on interest expense recognized in profit and loss in 2021 and 2020, please refer to 

Note 6(21) - Finance costs. 

2. Subsidiary - Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. had signed a secured loan 

agreement that imposes key performance criteria on the subsidiary's financial statements. 

Please see Note 9(2) for more details. 
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(x)  Short-term bills payable 

 
December 31, 2020  

Range of Issuing 

Interest Rate  Collateral or Security 
Commercial paper 

payable $ 40,000  
1.04%  None 

Less: Unamortized 

discount ( 43)  
   

 $ 39,957     

There was no such transaction on December 31, 2021. 

1. The commercial paper payable shown above was guaranteed by Mega Bills Finance Co., Ltd., 

and issued for short-term financing. 

2. For details on interest expense recognized in profit and loss in 2021 and 2020, please refer to 

Note 6(21) - Finance costs. 

(xi)Other payables 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Salary and bonus payable $ 34,598  $ 30,250 
Commission payable  18,513   11,360 
Provision for employee benefits payable  6,486   4,814 
Directors' remuneration payable  2,059   1,394 
Employees’ remuneration payable  2,059   1,394 
Others  21,857   24,421 

 $ 85,572  $ 73,633 

 

(xii)Provisions - Current 

Warranty Reserves  2021  2020 

Balance on January 1  $ 6,722  $ 8,344 
New provisions   11,876   5,179 
Provisions used  ( 9,337)  ( 1,370) 
Reversal of unused 

provisions 
 

( 986)  ( 5,431) 
Balance on December 31  $ 8,275  $ 6,722 

 

Warranty reserves are related to the sale of machinery; the amount in which is estimated 

based on historical warranty information of the product concerned. 

(xiii)Pension 

1. The Company has implemented a defined benefit pension plan in accordance with the 

"Labor Standards Act" of the Republic of China. The plan takes into account years of 

service of all permanent employees accumulated prior to the "Labor Pension Act" 

implemented on July 1, 2005, as well as years of service of employees who continue to 
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opt for the legacy pension scheme mentioned under the "Labor Standards Act" after the 

new "Labor Pension Act" came into effect. The Company pays pension benefits based on 

employees' years of service and their 6-month average salary prior to retirement for 

employees who meet the retirement criteria. Employees are awarded 2 basis points for 

every year of service up to (including) 15 years and 1 basis point for every year of service 

above 15 years, subject to a maximum of 45 basis points. The Company makes monthly 

pension contributions equivalent to 15% of employees' monthly gross salaries. These 

contributions are deposited into the dedicated account held with the Bank of Taiwan in 

the name of the Labor Pension Supervisory Committee. The Company also evaluates the 

balance of the labor pension fund account before the end of each year. In the event that 

the account is estimated to be short of balance to pay the amount in estimated pension 

benefits to workers who are expected to meet their retirement criteria in the following 

year, the Company is required to reimburse the shortfall in one contribution before March 

the following year. Below are disclosures relating to the above defined benefit plan: 

(1) Amounts recognized in the balance sheet are as follows: 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Present value of defined benefit 

obligations $ 60,079  $ 68,926 
Fair value of plan assets ( 31,522)  ( 42,059) 
Net defined benefit obligations $ 28,557  $ 26,867 

 

(2) Changes in net defined benefit liability: 

 
Present Value of 

Defined Benefit 

Obligations  
Fair Value of Plan 

Assets  
Net Defined Benefit 

Liabilities 
2021         

Balance on January 1 $ 68,926  ($ 42,059)  $ 26,867 
Current period 

service costs  260       260 
Interest expense 

(income)  340  (_ 209)   131 

  69,526  ( 42,268)   27,258 
Remeasurement:         

Return on plan 

assets  -  ( 622)  ( 622) 
Effect of changes 

in financial 

assumption 

 1,654   -   1,654 

        
Adjustment based 

on past experience  1,516   -   1,516 

  3,170  ( 622)   2,548 
Contribution to 

pension fund  -  ( 1,249)  ( 1,249) 
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Pension paid ( 12,617)   12,617   - 
Balance on December 

31 $ 60,079  ($ 31,522)  $ 28,557 

 

 Present Value of 

Defined Benefit 

Obligations 

 
Fair Value of Plan 

Assets 

 
Net Defined Benefit 

Liabilities 

2020         

Balance on January 1 $ 92,902  ($ 62,517)  $ 30,385 
Current period 

service costs  345   -   345 
Interest expense 

(income)  697  ( 476)   221 

  93,944  ( 62,993)   30,951 

Remeasurement:         
Return on plan 

assets  -  ( 2,013)  ( 2,013) 
Effect of changes 

in financial 

assumption 

 1,668   -   1,668 

        
Adjustment based 

on past experience ( 2,147)   -  ( 2,147) 

 ( 479)  ( 2,013)  ( 2,492) 
Contribution to 

pension fund  -  ( 1,592)  ( 1,592) 

Pension paid ( 24,539)   24,539   - 
Balance on December 

31 $ 68,926  ($ 42,059)  $ 26,867 

 

(3) Assets of the Company's defined benefit plan have been placed under mandated 

management of the Bank of Taiwan according to Article 6 of Regulations for 

Revenues, Expenditures, Safeguard and Utilization of the Labor Retirement Fund 

(concerning investments in local/foreign listed securities, privately placed equity 

securities, and real estate-backed securities placed with a local or foreign financial 

institution), and are being allocated for the uses and within the percentages and 

amounts outlined in the fund's annual investment plan. The utilization of the fund is 

being supervised by the Labor Pension Fund Supervisory Committee. Plan assets can 

only be allocated to investments that offer annual yields higher than the 2-year time 

deposit rate quoted by local banks. Shortfalls may be reimbursed by the public 

treasury subject to the approval of the authority. Since the Company is not involved 

in the fund's operation and management, it is unable to disclose the fair value of plan 

assets according to IAS 19 Section 142. For a fair value breakdown of plan assets as 

at December 31, 2021 and 2020, please refer to government-published labor pension 

fund utilization reports for the respective years. 
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(4) Actuarial assumptions relating to the pension plan are explained below: 

 2021  2020 

Discount rate 0.50%  0.50% 

Future salary increase rate 1.75%  1.75% 

 

Assumptions regarding the future mortality rate for 2021 and 2020 were made based 

on the 6th and 5th Mortality Table for Life Insurance Industry in Taiwan. 

 

Impact of changes in actuarial assumption on the present value of defined benefit 

obligations is explained below: 

  Discount Rate  Future Salary Increase 

  
Increase by 

0.25%  
Decrease by 

0.25%  
Increase by 

0.25%  
Decrease by 

0.25% 

December 31, 2021             
Effect on the present 

value of defined 

benefit obligations  ($ 1,428)  $ 1,482  $ 1,438  ($ 1,392) 

December 31, 2020             
Effect on the present 

value of defined 

benefit obligations  ($ 1,669)  $ 1,732  $ 1,680  ($ 1,627) 

 

The above sensitivity analysis assumes changes to one variable at a time while 

keeping all other variables constant. In reality, however, multiple assumptions may 

change at the same time and are related to each other. The sensitivity analysis was 

conducted using the same method as to how net pension liabilities are presented in 

the balance sheet. 

Methodology and assumption for the current period's sensitivity analysis are 

consistent with those of the previous period. 

(5) The Company expects to make contributions totaling $1,151 to the pension plan in the 

next year. 

(6) As at December 31, 2021, the pension plan had an average duration of 9.6 years. 

Analysis of pension payments due: 

Next 1 year $ 1,615 
Next 2-5 years  20,921 
Next 6-10 years  10,947 
Next 10 years and above  26,883 

 $ 60,366 
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2. Since July 1, 2005, the Company has implemented a set of defined contribution plan 

policies in accordance with the "Labor Pension Act" of the Republic of China that applies 

to employees of local nationality. For employees who are subject to the pension scheme 

introduced under the "Labor Pension Act," the Company contributes an amount equal to 

6% of employees' monthly salary to their individual accounts held with the Bureau of 

Labor Insurance on a monthly basis. Upon retirement, employees are paid the balance of 

their pension account plus cumulative gains either in monthly installments or in one lump 

sum. The Group's subsidiary is required under the People's Republic of China's retirement 

insurance system to pay monthly retirement premiums at 0% (Note) to 16% of gross salary 

for local employees. The pension fund of each employee is collectively managed by the 

government. Subsidiaries have no further obligations other than making monthly 

contributions. According to the policies above, total pension costs amounted to $17,795 

and $7,468 in 2021 and 2020 respectively. 

(Note) Due to the effect of COVID-19, the subsidiary - Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery 

Industry Co., Ltd. was granted an exemption by the local government and was not 

required to pay retirement insurance premiums between February and December 

2020. 

(xiv)Ordinary share capital 

1. Reconciliation between opening and closing number of outstanding common shares is 

explained below: (unit: thousand shares) 

 2021  2020 

Opening and closing share numbers 60,290  60,290 

 

2. As at December 31, 2021, the Company had a rated capital of $1,000,000 and paid-up 

capital of $602,900 issued in 60,290 thousand shares at NT$10 each, issued in installments. 

Proceeds from issued shares have been fully collected. 

(xv)Capital surplus 

Pursuant to The Company Act of the Republic of China, the amount in premiums received 

on shares issued above the face value plus any capital reserves arising from gifts received 

may be used to reimburse previous losses. If the Company has not accumulated losses, this 

amount may be distributed to shareholders in the form of cash or new shares based on 

shareholders' exiting ownership percentage. Furthermore, according to the Securities and 

Exchange Act of the Republic of China, the amount in capital reserves capitalized into share 

capital is capped at 10% of paid-up capital per year. The Company may not utilize capital 
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reserves to offset losses when there is still a positive balance in the earning reserves. 

(xvi)Retained earnings 

1. According to The Company Act of the Republic of China, the Company is required to 

make provisions for statutory reserves at 10% of after-tax earnings until it accumulates to 

the same amount as paid-up capital. The statutory reserve may not be used for purposes 

other than reimbursing previous losses or distributing proportionally back to existing 

shareholders in the form of cash or new shares. Only the amount in reserve that exceeds 

paid-up capital by 25% may be distributed in cash or new shares. 

2. According to the Company's Articles of Incorporation, annual surpluses concluded by the 

Company will first be subject to taxation and reimbursement of previous losses, followed 

by a 10% provision for statutory reserve and provision or reversal of special reserve 

according to applicable rules. The residual balance can then be added to unappropriated 

earnings accumulated in previous years and distributed as shareholder dividends or 

retained at board of directors' proposal, subject to resolution in a shareholder meeting. 

Shareholders' dividends and profit sharing payouts and be paid in shares and cash. Overall, 

the sum of dividends allocated can not be less than 10% of cumulative available earnings 

for the current year, and at least 50% of which has to be paid in cash. The Company 

authorizes the board of directors to distribute the proposed dividends, bonuses, capital 

surplus, or statutory reserves wholly or partially in cash, provided that such decision is 

resolved in a board meeting with at least two-thirds of directors present, supported by 

more than half of attending directors, and reported during a shareholder meeting afterward. 

These decisions do not require shareholder meeting resolution mentioned in the preceding 

Paragraph. 

3. Special reserve 

(1) When distributing earnings, the Company is bound by laws to make provision for 

special reserves equal to the debit balance of other equity items as at the current 

balance sheet date before proceeding. If the debit balance of other equity items is 

reversed on a later date, the amount reversed can be added to available earnings for 

distribution. 

(2) During the first-time adoption of IFRSs, a special reserve of $116,771 was provided 

in accordance with FSC Letter No. Jin-Guan-Zheng-Fa-1010012865 dated April 6, 

2012. This special reserve can be reversed proportionally when the underlying assets 

are used, disposed of, or reclassified on a later date. 

4. The amount in cash dividends to owners recognized in 2021 and 2020 was $45,218 

(NT$0.75 per share) and $102,493 (NT$1.7 per share), respectively. During the board of 
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directors meeting held on March 8, 2022, a resolution was passed on distributing cash 

dividends at NT$1.1 per share or $66,319 in total from 2021 earnings. 

(xvii)Operating revenue 

 2021  2020 

Revenue from contracts with customers $ 1,460,987  $ 1,221,097 

 

1. Breakdown of income from customers' contracts 

The revenue of the Group is derived from the provision of goods and services transferred 

at a certain point in time. Please see Note 14 Segment information for more details on 

revenues generated from the Group’s reporting segments. The revenue can be subdivided 

into the following product categories: 

 2021  2020 

Revenue from sale of machinery $ 1,362,577  $ 1,077,212 

Others  98,410   143,885 

 $ 1,460,987  $ 1,221,097 

 

2. Contract liabilities 

(1) As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, contract liabilities associated with revenue from 

contracts with customers amounted to $391,189 and $221,352 respectively. 

(2) The Group had contract liabilities of $221,352 and $133,015 as at January 1, 2021 and 

2020, from which $185,696 and $90,378 were recognized as revenues for 2021 and 

2020, respectively. 

(xviii)Interest income 

 2021  2020 

Bank deposit interest $ 502  $ 419 
Interest income from financial assets 

measured at amortized cost  152   - 
Interest income on installment notes and 

accounts receivable  12,222   8,795 

 $ 12,876  $ 9,214 

 

(xix)Other income 

 2021  2020 

Government subsidies income $ 23,639 
 

$ 24,949 

Rental income  3,600   1,800 

Other income  3,480   4,057 

 
$ 30,719 

 
$ 30,806 
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1. The Group was an eligible subject of "Regulations on COVID-19 Business Relief" 

introduced by the Industrial Development Bureau, Ministry of Economic Affairs of the 

Republic of China. It recognized $7,103 and $21,472 of subsidy income from government 

subsidies on salary and working capital in 2021 and 2020 respectively. The above 

government subsidies were granted with conditions, and the Ministry of Economic 

Affairs may revoke, cease, and recover subsidies if the applicant exhibits any of the 

following: 

(1)  Incorrect details in the application document. 

(2)  Failure to cooperate in audits conducted by the acceptance unit or execution unit. 

(3)  Repeated collection of salary subsidy or operating capital subsidy. 

(4)  Circumstances that the Ministry of Economic Affairs considers harmful to 

employees' interest. 

(5)  The applicant is an owner of idle land in one of the industrial zones listed in Article 

46-1 of the Statute for Industrial Innovation. 

(6)  Major violation of environmental protection, labor, or food safety and health laws in 

the last 3 years. 

(7)  Failure to register factory according to the Factory Management Act. 

(8)  Major violation of other relevant laws. 

(9)  Other issues of non-compliance. 

2. The Group recognized a 2021 government subsidy of $9,142 for its participation in the 

R&D Consolidation Project of the Ministry of Economic Affairs of the Republic of China. 

(xx)Other gains or losses 

 2021  2020 

Net loss on foreign currency exchange ($ 2,838)  ($ 8,997) 

Gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment 
( 548)   2,269 

Miscellaneous expenses ( 3,515)  ( 1,327) 

 ($ 6,901)  ($ 8,055) 

 

(xxi)Finance costs 

 2021  2020 

Interest expenses:      

Bank loans $ 2,667  $ 4,374 
Lease liabilities  166   182 
Less: Capitalization of qualifying assets   -  ( 28) 

 $ 2,833  $ 4,528 
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(xxii)Additional information on expenses 

 2021 

 
Presented as 

Operating Cost  
Presented as 

Operating Expense  Total 
Employee benefit 

expenses $ 163,497  $ 126,969  $ 290,466 
Depreciation  26,964   17,158   44,122 
Amortization  438   2,413   2,851 

 $ 190,899  $ 146,540  $ 337,439 

 2020 

 
Presented as 

Operating Cost  
Presented as 

Operating Expense  Total 
Employee benefit 

expenses $ 150,588  $ 117,533  $ 268,121 
Depreciation  30,637   16,079   46,716 
Amortization  217   2,403   2,620 

 $ 181,442  $ 136,015  $ 317,457 
 

(xxiii)Employee benefit expenses 

 2021 

 
Presented as 

Operating Cost  
Presented as 

Operating Expense  Total 

Salary expenses $ 139,679  $ 110,787  $ 250,466 
Labor/health insurance 

premium  8,723   5,803   14,526 
Pension expense  10,674   7,512   18,186 
Other personnel 

expenses  4,421   2,867   7,288 

 $ 163,497  $ 126,969  $ 290,466 

 2020 

 
Presented as 

Operating Cost  
Presented as 

Operating Expense  Total 

Salary expenses $ 131,968  $ 105,252  $ 237,220 
Labor/health insurance 

premium  9,439   5,674   15,113 
Pension expense  4,633   3,401   8,034 
Other personnel 

expenses  4,548   3,206   7,754 

 $ 150,588  $ 117,533  $ 268,121 
 

1. Pursuant to the former version of Articles of Incorporation, profits concluded from a 

financial year are subject to employee remuneration of no less than 1% and director 

remuneration of no more than 2%. However, profits must first be taken to offset 

cumulative losses, if any. The Company's Articles of Incorporation were last amended 

following resolutions sought during the shareholder meeting held on June 16, 2020. 

According to the amended Articles of Incorporation, profits concluded from a financial 
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year are subject to employee remuneration of 2% and director remuneration of no more 

than 2%, depending on the current year's profitability. However, profits must first be 

taken to offset cumulative losses, if any. 

2.In 2021 and 2020, the Company estimated employees’ remuneration at $2,059 and 

$1,394 respectively, and directors’ remuneration at $2,059 and $1,394 respectively. 

The amounts above were presented as salary expenses and determined based on the 

profitability of the respective years in accordance with the percentages stated in the 

Articles of Incorporation. The board meeting resolved to pay the 2020 employees’ 

remuneration and directors’ remuneration at $2,796 each. The difference from the 

employees’ remuneration and directors’ remuneration of $2,788 recognized in the 

financial report of 2020 is $8, mainly due to the difference in estimation and 

calculation. The board meeting on March 8, 2022 resolved to pay the 2021 employees’ 

remuneration and directors’ remuneration at $2,059 each; the employees’ 

remuneration will be paid in cash. Details of employees'/directors' remuneration passed 

by the Company's board of directors can be found on the Market Observation Post 

System. 

(xxiv)Income tax 

1. Income tax expenses 

(1) Composition of income tax expense: 

  2021  2020 
Current income tax:       

Income tax on current profit  $ 19,712  $ 19,494 
Additional tax on unappropriated 

earnings 
 

 243   38 
Overestimation of income tax 

expenses in previous years 
 

( 64)  ( 5,373) 
Total current income tax   19,891   14,159 
Deferred income tax:       

Occurrence and reversal of 

temporary difference 
 

 7,529  ( 8,530) 
Effect of tax losses on income tax   3,582   5,967 
Effect of tax rate changes   -   3,751 

Total deferred income tax   11,111   1,188 
Income tax expense  $ 31,002  $ 15,347 

(2) Income tax on other comprehensive income: 

 2021  2020 
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans ($ 509)  $ 498 
Exchange Differences in Translating 

the Financial Statements of 

Foreign Operations ( 593)   1,542 

 ($ 1,102)  $ 2,040 
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2. Relationship between income tax expense and accounting profit 

  2021  2020 
Income tax derived by applying the 

statutory tax rate to pre-tax profit 
 

$ 35,145  $ 22,460 
Effect of statutory adjustments  ( 7,904)  ( 11,496) 
Additional tax on unappropriated 

earnings 
 

 243   38 
Overestimation of income tax expenses 

in previous years 
 

( 64)  ( 5,373) 
Effect of tax losses on income tax   3,582   5,967 
Effect of tax rate changes    -   3,751 
Income tax expense  $ 31,002  $ 15,347 

 

3. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities arising from temporary differences and tax 

losses are presented below: 

  2021 

  

January 1  

Recognized 

in Profit or 

Loss  

Recognized in 

Other 

Comprehensive 

Income  December 31 
Deferred tax assets             

Temporary difference:             
Pension expense  $ 5,374  ($ 172)  $ 509  $ 5,711 
Unrealized losses on 

inventory devaluation 
 

 9,619   337   -   9,956 
Bad debt losses   1,179   452   -   1,631 
Others   2,135  ( 445)   -   1,690 

Tax losses   3,582  ( 3,582)   -   - 

  $ 21,889  ($ 3,410)  $ 509  $ 18,988 

Deferred tax liabilities             
Temporary difference:             

Unrealized gain on 

investment 
 

($ 90,580)  ($ 7,701)  $ 593  ($ 97,688) 
Provision for land 

increment value tax 
 

( 42,277)   -   -  ( 42,277) 

  ($ 132,857)  ($ 7,701)  $ 593  ($ 139,965) 

  ($ 110,968)  ($ 11,111)  $ 1,102  ($ 120,977) 
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 2020 

 

January 1  

Recognized 

in Profit or 

Loss  

Recognized in 

Other 

Comprehensive 

Income  December 31 
Deferred tax assets            

Temporary difference:            
Pension expense $ 6,077  ($ 205)  ($ 498)  $ 5,374 
Unrealized losses on 

inventory devaluation  7,191   2,428   -   9,619 
Bad debt losses  -   1,179   -   1,179 
Others  2,312  ( 177)   -   2,135 

Tax losses  9,549  ( 5,967)   -   3,582 

 $ 25,129  ($ 2,742)  ($ 498)  $ 21,889 

Deferred tax liabilities            
Temporary difference:            

Unrealized gain on 

investment ($ 90,592)  $ 1,554  ($ 1,542)  ($ 90,580) 
Provision for land 

increment value tax ( 42,277)   -   -  ( 42,277) 

 ($ 132,869)  $ 1,554  ($ 1,542)  ($ 132,857) 

 ($ 107,740)  ($ 1,188)  ($ 2,040)  ($ 110,968) 

 

4. Expiry of unused tax losses and amounts not recognized as deferred income tax asset 

is presented below: 

December 31, 2020 

Year 

Occurred  

Amount 

Approved/ 

Reported  
Unused Tax 

Credit  

Amount Not 

Recognized as 

deferred Income 

Tax Assets  
Final Year 

Deductible 

2019  Reported  $ 21,196  $ -  2024 

There was no such transaction on December 31, 2021. 

5. Deductible temporary difference not recognized as deferred income tax asset: 

 2021  2020 

Excess provision of doubtful debt $ 453  $ 2,220 
Unrealized losses on inventory 

devaluation  19,180   21,195 

 $ 19,633  $ 23,415 

6. The Company's profit-seeking enterprise business income tax returns have been 

certified by the tax authority up to 2019. No administrative remedy has been raised in 

relation to tax matters as if March 8, 2022. 

7. Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd., one of the Group's subsidiaries, 

became eligible to high-tech business privileged tax rate under the Enterprise Income 

Tax Law of the People's Republic of China in 2020 and has had enterprise income tax 
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rate reduced from 25% to 15%. The Group has evaluated how the change in the tax 

rate would affect its income tax expenses. 

(xxv)Earnings per share 

 2021 

 
Amount after 

Tax  

Weighted Average 

Outstanding Shares 

(thousand shares)  
Earnings Per 

Share (NTD) 
Basic earnings per share        
Current net income attributable to 

ordinary shareholders of parent 

company 

       

$ 83,778  60,290  $ 1.39 

Diluted earnings per share        
Current net income attributable to 

ordinary shareholders of parent 

company 

       

$ 83,778      
Dilutive effect of potential ordinary 

shares – employee remuneration 
       

  -  105    
Current net income attributable to 

ordinary shareholders of parent 

company plus the effect of 

potential ordinary shares 

       

$ 83,778   60,395  $ 1.39 

 2020 

 
Amount after 

Tax  

Weighted Average 

Outstanding Shares 

(thousand shares)  
Earnings Per 

Share (NTD) 
Basic earnings per share        
Current net income attributable to 

ordinary shareholders of parent 

company 

       

$ 56,931  60,290  $ 0.94 

Diluted earnings per share        
Current net income attributable to 

ordinary shareholders of parent 

company 

       

$ 56,931      
Dilutive effect of potential ordinary 

shares – employees’ remuneration 
       

  -  78    
Current net income attributable to 

ordinary shareholders of parent 

company plus the effect of 

potential ordinary shares 

       

$ 56,931   60,368  $ 0.94 

 

(xxvi)Supplementary cash flow information 

1. Investing activities involving partial cash outlay: 

  2021  2020 

(1) Purchase of property, plant, and equipment  $ 4,630  $ 20,005 
Add: Equipment proceeds payable at 

the beginning of the period 

(recognized as "other payables")   356   4,718 
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Less: Equipment proceeds payable at 

the end of the period (recognized 

as "other payables")  ( 358)  ( 356) 

Interest capitalized   -  ( 28) 
Cash payment for purchase of property, 

plant and equipment  $ 4,628  $ 24,339 

 

 2021  2020 
(2) Disposal of property, plant and equipment $ 454  $ 10,479 

Add: Other installment notes 

receivable - related parties  4,000    - 
Beginning other receivables - 

related parties  1,985    - 
Less: Other installment notes 

receivable - related parties   -  ( 4,000) 
Closing other receivables - 

related parties   -  ( 1,985) 
Disposal of property, plant and 

equipment $ 6,439  $ 4,494 

 

2. Operating and investing activities without cash flow effects: 

 2021  2020 

(1) Charge-off of unrecoverable proceeds $ 162  $ 293 

(2) Reclassification from prepayments 

for equipment to property, plant 

and equipment $ 9,261  $ 5,585 

(3) Reclassification from prepayments for 

equipment to intangible assets $ 264  $ 192 

 

(xxvii)Change of liabilities relating to financing activities 

 
Short-Term 

Borrowings  
Short-Term Bills 

Payable  
Lease 

Liabilities  

Total Liabilities 

from Financing 

Activities 
Balance on January 1, 

2021 $ 281,830  $ 39,957  $ 16,443  $ 338,230 
Change in financing 

cash flow ( 161,830)  ( 40,000)  ( 1,554)  ( 203,384) 

Change in other non-

cash flow 

           

 -   43   -   43 
Balance on December 

31, 2021 $ 120,000  $ -  $ 14,889  $ 134,889 
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Short-Term 

Borrowings  
Short-Term Bills 

Payable  
Lease 

Liabilities  

Total Liabilities 

from Financing 

Activities 
Balance on January 1, 

2020 $ 212,961  $ 9,997  $ 17,981  $ 240,939 
Change in financing 

cash flow  68,869   30,000  ( 1,538)   97,331 
Change in other non-

cash flow  -  ( 40)   -  ( 40) 
Balance on December 

31, 2020 $ 281,830  $ 39,957  $ 16,443  $ 338,230 

 

VII. Related party transactions 

(i)  Name and relationship of related parties 

Name of related party  Relationship with the Group 

Chun Yu Works & Co., Ltd. (Chun Yu)  Parent company 

Chun Bang Precision Co., Ltd. (Chun Bang)  Associated company 
PT Moon Lion Industries Indonesia (PT Moon 

Lion) 
 Associated company 

Chunyu (Dongguan) Metal Products Co., Ltd. 

(Chun Yu Dongguan) 
 Associated company 

Shanghai Uchee Hardware Products Co., Ltd. 

(Shanghai Uchee) 
 Associated company 

OFCO Industrial Corp. (OFCO)  Other related party 

Homkom Precision Industry Corp. (Homkom)  Other related party 
Shanghai Wangzhan Trading Co., Ltd. (Shanghai 

Wangzhan) 
 Other related party 

Gloria Material Technology Corp. (Gloria Material)  Other related party 

TSG Transport Corp. (TSG)  Other related party 

   

(ii)  Significant transactions with related parties 

1. Operating revenues 

 2021  2020 

Sale of merchandise:      
- Associated companies and other related 

parties $ 113,796  $ 114,132 
- Parent Company  21,624   23,207 

 $ 135,420  $ 137,339 

 

All sales transactions with Group related parties are conducted on normal trade terms. Sales 

proceeds are collected according to the terms of individual sales contract for machinery and 

equipment, or 1~2 years for installment sales (1~3 years for 2020), or 3~4 months for parts 

and accessories. 



  

~50~ 

2. Purchases 

 2021  2020 

Sale of merchandise:      
- Associated companies and other related 

parties $ 16,237  $ 16,910 

- Parent Company  270   754 

 $ 16,507  $ 17,664 

 

The Group purchases goods from related parties at prices and terms that are comparable to 

general suppliers. Purchases of machinery and equipment are executed according to the terms 

of the respective contracts; payments terms for parts and accessories are between 3 to 4 

months. 

 

3. Other income 

 2021  2020 

Chun Bang $ 3,600  $ 2,917 
Associated company  80   - 

 $ 3,680  $ 2,917 

 

4. Property transaction 

Disposal of property, plant, and equipment: 

   2020 

 Name of Equipment  Disposal Proceeds  Gain (Loss) on Disposal 

Chun Bang 
Machinery and 

equipment  $ 10,065  $ 2,436 

There was no such transaction in 2021. 

 

5. Related party receivables 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 
(1) Notes receivable and other notes receivable 

(including installment notes receivable) 

- Associated companies and other related parties $ 23,632  $ 4,795 
Less: Unrealized interest income ( 605)   - 

Loss provisions ( 7)  ( 1) 

 $ 23,020  $ 4,794 

(2) Accounts receivable (including installment 

accounts receivable)      

- Chun Yu Dongguan $ 19,233  $ 12,821 

- Associated companies and other related parties  12,795   6,746 

- Parent Company  2,952   2,369 

- PT Moon Lion  -   41,863 

  34,980   63,799 
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Less: Unrealized interest income ( 1,189)  ( 3,669) 

Loss provisions ( 11)  ( 24) 

 $ 33,780  $ 60,106 

(3) Other receivables      

- Chun Bang $ 400  $ 3,661 

 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 
(4) Long-term notes and accounts receivable 

(including installment notes and accounts 

receivable)      

- PT Moon Lion $ -  $ 14,100 

- Chun Yu Dongguan  -   3,062 

  -   17,162 
Less: Unrealized interest income  -  ( 1,848) 

 $ -  $ 15,314 

6. Contract liabilities - current 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Parent company $ 4,928  $ 2,969 

OFCO  1,800   - 

Gloria Material  -   6,690 

 $ 6,728  $ 9,659 

 

7. Accounts payable - related parties 

 December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

(1) Notes payable      

- OFCO $ 1,575  $ - 

- Chun Bang  -   135 

 $ 1,575  $ 135 

(2) Accounts payable      
- Associated companies and other related 

parties $ 6,187  $ 5,251 
- Parent Company  10   109 

 $ 6,197  $ 5,360 

 

(iii)  Compensation of key management staff 

 2021  2020 

Salary and other short-term employee benefits $ 26,440  $ 13,986 

 

VIII. Pledged Assets 

The Group had placed the following assets as collaterals: 
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Name of Asset  December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020  
Purpose of 

Security 

Pledged demand deposit (Note 1)  $ -  $ 970  
Performance 

guarantee 

Buildings - net (Note 2)   11,844   13,143  
Short-term 

borrowings 

Right-of-use asset   14,905   15,551  
Short-term 

borrowings 

  $ 26,749  $ 29,664   

 

(Note 1) Presented as "other financial assets - current." 

(Note 2) Presented under "property, plant, and equipment." 

IX. Significant Contingent Liabilities and Unrecognized Commitments 

(i) As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Group had $- and $48 of capital spending for property, 

plant and equipment that were contracted but unpaid. 

(ii) Subsidiary - Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. signed a 9-year secured syndicated 

loan agreement with China Construction Bank on January 1, 2017 for a total credit limit of RMB 

23,000 thousand. This credit limit is being drawn for short-term financing over the loan tenor. 

The subsidiary has made the following commitments to the lending bank over the loan tenor: 

1. Subsidiary - Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. is required to maintain the 

following financial covenants over the loan tenor, which will be reviewed once per quarter 

based on the most recent financial statements: 

(1) Current ratio: the ratio of current assets to current liabilities shall not fall below 150%. 

(2) Debt ratio: the ratio of total liabilities to equity shall not exceed 58%. 

(3) Contingent liabilities ratio: the ratio of total contingent liabilities to equity shall not 

exceed 50%. 

(4) Contingent liabilities: the amount in contingent liabilities shall not exceed RMB 60,000 

thousand. 

2. If subsidiary - Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. is unable to meet the financial 

covenants mentioned above, the managing bank shall be entitled to recover loan capital prior 

to maturity from the day of notice until the day the subsidiary produces financial reports that 

prove compliance with the financial covenants. 

Subsidiary - Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. had not breached the covenants 

mentioned above as at December 31, 2020. There was no such transaction on December 31, 

2021. 
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X. Losses from Significant Disasters 

None. 

XI. Significant Events after The Balance Sheet Date  

None. 

XII. Others 

(i)Capital  management  

The objectives of the Group's capital management efforts are to ensure continuity of business 

activities and maintain the optimal capital structure that minimizes funding costs while 

maximizing shareholders' returns. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may 

revise the amount in dividends paid to shareholders, refund capital back to shareholders, or 

reduce debts by issuing new shares or disposing of assets. 

 

(ii)Financial instruments 

1. Types of financial instruments 

Please refer to Notes 6 and 12(3) - Fair value information for more details on the types of 

financial instruments held by the Group. 

2. Risk management policy 

(1) The Group's day-to-day operations are susceptible to multiple forms of financial risk, 

including market risks (exchange rate risk, interest rate risk, and price risk), credit 

risks, and liquidity risks. The Group adopts a risk management policy that emphasizes 

responses to unpredictable occurrences in the financial market and is constantly 

exploring solutions to mitigate adverse impacts on the Group's financial position and 

performance. 

(2) Risk management is performed by the Group's Finance Department according to 

board-approved policies. The Finance Department is responsible for identifying, 

assessing, and mitigating financial risks, and it achieves this by working closely with 

other departments within the Group. The board of directors has implemented written 

principles on risk management practices and outlined policies for specific matters 

such as exchange rate risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative/non-

derivative instruments, and residual liquid capital investment. 

3. Characteristics and level of significant financial risks 

(1) Market risk 
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A. Exchange rate risk 

(A) The Group is a multinational organization and is therefore exposed to 

exchange rate risks of several different currencies. USD accounts for the 

highest exposure. Exchange rate risks arise from future commercial 

transactions, recognized assets and liabilities, and net investments in foreign 

operations. 

(B) The management has implemented policies to guide group affiliates in the 

management of exchange rate risks associated with their functional currencies. 

All Group affiliates are required to hedge exchange rate risks through the 

Group's Finance Department. Exchange rate risks arise when future 

commercial transactions or recognized assets/liabilities are denominated in 

foreign currencies other than the functional currency. 

(C) Some of the Group's business activities involve non-functional currencies (the 

Company's functional currency is NTD, while some subsidiaries use USD and 

RMB as functional currencies) and are therefore susceptible to exchange rate 

fluctuations. Information on foreign currency-denominated assets and 

liabilities susceptible to significant exchange rate fluctuation is presented 

below: 

 December 31, 2021 

(Foreign Currency: 

Functional Currency) 

Foreign 

Currency 

(thousand 

dollars)  
Exchange 

Rate  Book Value 

Financial assets        

Monetary items        

USD:NTD $ 2,478  27.68  $ 68,591 

USD:RMB  2,924  6.38   80,936 

EUR:NTD  135  31.32   4,228 

EUR:RMB  1,095  7.22   34,295 

Financial liabilities        

Monetary items        

USD:NTD  430  27.68   11,902 

 December 31, 2020 

(Foreign Currency: 

Functional Currency) 

Foreign 

Currency 

(thousand 

dollars)  
Exchange 

Rate  Book Value 

Financial assets        

Monetary items        

USD:NTD $ 4,076  28.48  $ 116,084 
USD:RMB  1,711  6.50   48,729 
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RMB:NTD  3,169  4.38   13,880 

EUR:NTD  55  35.02   1,926 

EUR:RMB  116  8.00   4,062 

Financial liabilities        

Monetary items        

USD:NTD  163  28.48   4,642 

 

Exchange rate sensitivity analyses are performed primarily on foreign 

currency monetary items as of the closing date of the financial reporting 

period. If NTD strengthened/weakened against foreign currencies by 1%, the 

Group's 2021 and 2020 net income would have decreased/increased by $1,468 

and $1,467, respectively. 

Total net loss on exchange (realized and unrealized) recognized by the Group 

for significant monetary items susceptible of exchange rate fluctuation in 

2021 and 2020 were $2,838 and $8,997, respectively. 

B. Price risk 

The Group does not trade any financial instrument that is susceptible to a price 

change, and therefore is not exposed to market risk from price changes. 

C. Cash flow and fair value risks of interest rate 

(A) The Group bears interest rate risk from some of the short-term borrowings 

borrowed at floating rates. These loans give rise to interest rate risks in the 

form of variable cash flow. The Group's floating rate borrowings in 2021 and 

2020 were denominated in NTD and RMB. 

(B) Loans of the Group are measured at cost after amortization. Interest rates on 

loans are subject to repricing on a yearly basis according to the terms of the 

respective contract. As a result, the Group is exposed to the risk of changes in 

the market interest rate. 

(C) With all other factors remaining unchanged, a 1% rise/fall in the borrowing 

interest rate in 2021 and 2020 would reduce/increase the net income by $960 

and $2,255 respectively. These changes are mainly attributed to increases or 

decreases in interest expense on loans borrowed at floating rates. 

(2) Credit risk 

A. Credit risk refers to the possibility of losses suffered by the Group due to its 

customers or financial instrument counterparties becoming unable to fulfill 

contractual obligations. These risk events mostly involve the counterparties being 

unable to settle the amount collectible or the contractual cash flow according to 
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the payment terms agreed. 

B. The Group has developed credit risk management practices from a group 

perspective. Only banks and financial institutions that are awarded independent 

credit ratings above a certain level can be accepted as transaction counterparties. 

According to the Group's internal credit policy, all operating entities are required 

to perform credit risk management and analysis on every new customer before 

establishing payment and delivery terms. The Company adopts an internal risk 

management system that assesses credit quality by taking into account customers' 

financial position, previous conducts, and other relevant factors. Individual 

counterparty risk limits are set by the board of directors based on internal or 

external assessments. Uses of credit limit are monitored on a regular basis. 

C. The Group has adopted the following assumptions mentioned in IFRS 9 to provide 

the basis for identifying any significant increase in the credit risk of a financial 

instrument held on hand after initial recognition: 

A financial asset is considered to have exhibited a significant increase in credit 

risk after initial recognition when contractual payment (according to the terms of 

the underlying contract) becomes past due for more than 30 days. 

D. The Group adopts the assumptions stated in IFRS 9 and treats a contract to be in 

default if payment is overdue for more than 90 days. 

E. The Group classifies notes and accounts receivable from customers (including 

long-term receivables and related parties) by location and credit risk 

characteristics. The Group adopts a simplified approach and uses the preparation 

matrix to estimate expected credit loss. The loss rate for estimating allowances on 

notes and accounts receivable (including long-term receivables and related parties) 

is determined after taking into consideration the future prospect, historical 

experience, and current information. Below is the preparation matrix as at 

December 31, 2021 and 2020: 

December 31, 2021  
Expected Loss 

Rate  Total Book Value  Loss Provisions 

Taiwan         

Current  0.03%  $ 247,211  $ 81 
Overdue within 90 

days  0.03%〜5.90%   5,083   1 
Overdue 91 days and 

above  100%   2,089   2,089 

     254,383   2,171 
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Mainland China         

Current  0.03%〜0.16%  $ 165,987  $ 270 

Overdue within 90 

days  0.03%〜84.66% %  477   170 
Overdue 91 days and 

above  100.00%   12   12 

     166,476   452 

    $ 420,859  $ 2,623 

December 31, 2020  
Expected Loss 

Rate  Total Book Value   Loss Provisions 

Taiwan         

Current  0.03%〜100%  $ 294,142  $ 2,399 
Overdue within 90 

days  0.03%〜47.06% %  11,564   1,132 
Overdue 91 days and 

above  63.45%〜100%   502   319 

     306,208   3,850 

Mainland China         

Current  0.03%〜0.5%  $ 307,381  $ 1,512 
Overdue within 90 

days  33.49%〜78.95%   1,488   551 
Overdue 91 days and 

above  100%   156   156 

     309,025   2,219 

    $ 615,233  $ 6,069 

 

F. Below are changes in loss provision on notes and accounts receivable, determined 

using the simplified approach: 

 2021 

 Notes Receivable  
Accounts 

Receivable  Total 

Balance on January 1 $ 3,508  $ 2,561  $ 6,069 
Expected credit (loss) reversal ( 3,243)  ( 29)  ( 3,272) 
Charge-off of unrecoverable 

proceeds   -  ( 162)  ( 162) 

Effect of exchange rate ( 6)  ( 6)  ( 12) 

Balance on December 31 $ 259  $ 2,364  $ 2,623 

 

 

2020 
Notes 

receivable  
Accounts 

receivable  Total 

Balance on January 1 $ 95  $ 5,819  $ 5,914 
Expected credit (loss) reversal  3,413  ( 2,992)   421 
Charge-off of unrecoverable 

proceeds  -  ( 293)  ( 293) 
Effect of exchange rate  -   27   27 

Balance on December 31 $ 3,508  $ 2,561  $ 6,069 
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(3) Liquidity risk 

A. Cash flow projections are made by individual operating entities within the Group, 

and consolidated by the Group Finance Department. The Group's Finance 

Department monitors cash flow requirements to ensure that adequate funding is 

obtained to finance various operations. The Finance Department also maintains an 

adequate level of committed borrowing limits available at all times to prevent the 

Group from violating terms of the loan. 

B. The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities by maturity date. It 

analyzes them based on their remaining timespan from the balance sheet date until 

contract maturity, as shown in the following chart. Amounts of contractual cash 

flow shown in the table below are not discounted. 

December 31, 2021  
Less than 1 

Year  1 to 2 Years  2 to 5 Years  
5 Years and 

above 
Non-derivative 

financial liabilities:             
Short-term 

borrowings  $ 120,392  $ -  $ -  $ - 
Notes payable   486   -   -   - 

Notes payable - 

related parties 

            

  1,575   -   -   - 
Accounts payable   220,516   -   -   - 
Other payables   85,572   -   -   - 
Lease liabilities   1,720   1,778   6,193   5,849 

December 31, 2020  
Less than 1 

Year  1 to 2 Years  2 to 5 Years  
5 Years and 

above 
Non-derivative 

financial liabilities:             
Short-term 

borrowings  $ 282,985  $ -  $ -  $ - 
Short-term bills 

payable   40,000   -   -   - 
Notes payable   273   -   -   - 

Notes payable - 

related parties 

            

  135   -   -   - 
Accounts payable   171,177   -   -   - 
Other payables   73,633   -   -   - 
Lease liabilities   1,720   1,720   5,907   7,913 

 

C. The Group does not expect cash flows of non-derivative financial liabilities in the 

maturity analysis to occur at an earlier time or in amounts that differ significantly. 

(iii)Fair value information 

1. The Group did not hold any financial instrument carried at fair value as at December 31, 

2021 and 2020. 
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2. The Group holds financial instruments that are not carried at fair value (including cash 

and cash equivalents, notes receivable, accounts receivable (including related parties), 

other receivables (including related parties), financial assets measured at amortized cost - 

non current, refundable deposits paid, long-term notes and accounts receivable (including 

related parties), short-term borrowings, short-term notes payable, notes payable 

(including related parties), accounts payable and other payables); for these instruments, 

the book values are close to their fair values. 

(iv)Other Matters 

1. The Group is a multinational enterprise. Due to the repeated impact of COVID-19, various 

countries still implement various pandemic prevention measures to varying degrees, 

which has affected the export to a certain extent. The Group maintains close contact with 

customers and manufacturers for the continuation of orders, but the actual degree of 

possible impact still depends on the follow-up development of the pandemic in various 

countries. 

2. Affected by COVID-19 and the government's promotion of a number of pandemic 

prevention measures, the Group, in compliance with the "Guidelines for Continuous 

Operation of Enterprises in Response to the Pandemic of Severe and Special Infectious 

Pneumonia", has adopted countermeasures related to workplace health management and 

continues to manage relevant matters. The Company's plants operate normally without 

significant impact in any aspects. 

XIII. Other disclosures 

Only information for the year 2021 was disclosed according to the regulations. 

(i)Information related to significant transactions 

1. Loans to external parties: None. 

2. Endorsements/guarantees to external parties: None. 

3. End-of-period marketable securities holding position (excluding investment in 

subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures): None. 

4. Cumulative purchase or sale of the same marketable securities amounting to NT$300 

million or more than 20% of the paid-up capital: None. 

5. Acquisition of real estate amounting to NT$300 million or more than 20% of paid-up 

capital: None. 

6. Disposal of real estate amounting to NT$300 million or more than 20% of paid up capital: 

None. 
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7. Sales and purchases with related parties amounting to NT$100 million or more than 20% 

of paid up capital: None. 

8. Related party accounts receivable amounting to NT$100 million or more than 20% of 

paid-up capital: None. 

9. Derivative transactions: None. 

10. Major business dealings between the parent company and subsidiaries and transactions 

between subsidiaries: Please see Table 1. 

(ii)Information on business investments 

Names, locations and information on investees (excluding Mainland investees): Please see 

Table 2. 

(iii)Information relating to investments in the Mainland 

1. Basic information: Please see Table 3. 

2. Significant transactions with Mainland investees, whether directly invested or indirectly 

invested through a third location: Please see Table 4. 

XIV. Segment information 

(i)General information 

The management has identified the Group's reporting segments based on the types of 

information used by decision makers to make decisions. The Group's reporting segments are 

as follows: 

1. Taiwan: Mainly involved in the manufacturing, assembly, and trading of machine tools 

and chemical machines. 

2. Mainland: Mainly involved in the manufacturing, assembly, and trading of machine tools 

and chemical machines. 

3. Other locations: Mainly involved in general investments. 

There was no major change to the Group's business composition, departments, or basis of 

segment information in the current period. 

(ii)Assessment of segment information 

The Group's operational decision maker evaluates segment performance primarily based on 

pre-tax segment profit. Accounting policies adopted by various operating segments are 

consistent with those described in Note 4 - Summary of significant accounting policies of 

the consolidated financial statements. 
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(iii)Segment profit, loss, asset and liability 

The following is a list of segment information to be reported to the main decision makers: 

 2021 

 Taiwan  
Mainland 

China  
Other 

Locations  Total 

Segment revenues $ 658,184  $ 821,711  $ -  $ 1,479,895 
Revenues from internal 

segments  276   18,632   -   18,908 
Net revenues from external 

sources  657,908   803,079   -   1,460,987 
Segmental profit before tax  98,818   102,541   86,590   287,949 
Segment assets  993,574   1,044,911   10,091   2,048,576 
Segment liabilities  614,768   407,796   -   1,022,564 

 2020 

 Taiwan  
Mainland 

China  
Other 

Locations  Total 

Segment revenues $ 569,326  $ 660,522  $ -  $ 1,229,848 
Revenues from internal 

segments  475   8,276   -   8,751 
Net revenues from external 

sources  568,851   652,246   -   1,221,097 
Segmental profit before tax  67,134   60,265   55,120   182,519 
Segment assets  1,047,860   913,216   10,373   1,971,449 
Segment liabilities  668,772   310,732   -   979,504 

 

(iv)Reconciliation of segment profit/loss 

1. Sales between segments are conducted based on the fair trade principle. Revenues from 

external sources reported to main decision makers are measured in a manner consistent 

with revenues of the statement of comprehensive income. Reconciliation of segment pre-

tax profit/loss and pre-tax profit/loss: 

 2021  2020 

Pre-tax profits/losses of reporting segments $ 201,359  $ 127,399 
Pre-tax profits/losses of other operating 

segments  86,590   55,120 
Elimination of inter-segment profits/losses ( 173,169)  ( 110,241) 

Profit before tax $ 114,780  $ 72,278 

 

2. Total assets and total liabilities presented to the main decision maker have been measured 

using the same method as the assets and liabilities presented in the Group's consolidated 

financial report. Hence no reconciliation was needed. 
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(v)Product and service category 

The Group is mainly involved in the manufacturing and trading of machine tools and 

chemical machines. No further disclosure is made by product type as the Group does not 

have exposure to other industries. 

(vi)Regional disclosure 

The following are the Group's information by region for 2021 and 2020: 

 2021  2020 

 
Revenues 

(Note)  
Non-Current 

Assets  
Revenues 

(Note)  
Non-Current 

Assets 

Mainland China $ 785,692  $ 190,988  $ 612,536  $ 208,522 

Taiwan  324,637   332,945   288,661   347,255 

Brazil  101,868   -   28,284    

India  40,780   -   41,815   - 

Japan  26,910   -   3,434   - 

Thailand  17,910   -   36,527   - 

Indonesia  13,283   -   86,530   - 
Others (representing less 

than 3%)  149,907   -   123,310   - 

 $ 1,460,987  $ 523,933  $ 1,221,097  $ 555,777 

(Note) Revenues are classified based on customers' country of domicile. 

(vii)Information on key customers 

None of the Group's customers individually accounted for more than 10% of the revenues 

shown in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in 2021 and 2010. 
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 

Intercompany Relationships and Significant Intercompany Transactions 
January 1 to December 31, 2021 

Table 1     Unit: NTD thousand 

       

        

No. 

(Note 2) Company Name Counterparty 

Nature of Relationship  

(Note 3) 

Transaction Summary 

Item Amount Transaction Terms 

Percentage 

of 
Consolidate

d Revenues 

or Total 

Assets 

0 Chun Zu Machinery Industry 

Co., Ltd. 

Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery 

Industry Co., Ltd. 

1  Purchase  $      18,632 Payments terms for parts and accessories are 

between 3 and 4 months; purchases of 
machinery and equipment are executed 

according to the terms of the respective 

contracts 

1% 

   1  Income from business management 

service 

        13,010 Pay once a year, remittance before the end of 

May of the following year 

1% 

   1  Other receivables         13,032 - 1% 

   1  Prepayments          6,413 - - 

        
(Note 1) No duplicate disclosure is made on major business dealings between the parent company and subsidiaries and transactions between subsidiaries of the opposite direction. Only transactions 

amounting to NT$1 million and above are disclosed. 
(Note 2) Business dealings between the parent company and subsidiaries are indicated in the serial number column. The numbering rule is explained below: 

       1. Fill out 0 for the parent company. 

       2. Each subsidiary is numbered in sequential order starting from 1. 
(Note 3) Related party transactions are distinguished into one of three categories, as shown below: 

       1. Parent to subsidiary. 

       2. Subsidiary to parent. 
       3. Subsidiary to subsidiary. 

(Note 4) Calculation for business dealings as a percentage of total consolidated revenues or total assets is explained as follows: for balance sheet items, percentage of equity at end of period is 

calculated relative to consolidated total assets or liabilities; for profit and loss items, percentage of end-of-period cumulative amount is calculated relative to consolidated total revenues. 
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 

Names, Locations and Related Information of Investee Companies (excluding investees in Mainland China) 

January 1 to December 31, 2021 

Table 2        Unit: NTD thousand 

          

            

Investor Investee Location 

Main 

Businesses  

Original Investment Amount Period-End Holding Position 

Current Period Profit 

(Loss) of the Investee 

Investment Gains 
(Losses) Recognized in 

the Current Period Remarks 

End of Current 

Period 

End of 

Previous Year 

Shares 
(thousand 

shares) Ratio Book Value 

Chun Zu Machinery 
Industry Co., Ltd. 

Lion City Management 
Ltd 

British 
Virgin 

Islands 

Professional 
investment 

institution 

 $    55,360   $    55,360        2,000  100.00  $   627,761   $           86,590   $           86,590  Subsidiary 

            

            

            

            

            

            

            
(Note) For foreign currency items shown on this chart, the closing book value were converted into NTD using the exchange rate as at the date of financial statement (USD 1:NTD 27.68); meanwhile, amounts 

including investees' current profit/loss and gain/loss on investment recognized in the current period were converted into NTD using the 2021 average exchange rate (USD 1:NTD 28.01). 
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 

Information on Investments in Mainland China - Profile and Investment Limits 

January 1 to December 31, 2021 

Table 3          Unit: NTD thousand  

Name of Mainland 

Investee 

Main Businesses 

and Products Paid-in Capital 

Method of 

Investments 

Opening 

Cumulative 

Balance of 

Investment 

Capital 

Invested from 

Taiwan 

Contributed or 

Recovered during 

the Current Period 

Amount Invested 

Closing 

Cumulative 

Balance of 

Investment 

Capital 

Invested 

from Taiwan 

Investee 

Current 

Profit and 

Loss 

% Ownership 

of Direct or 

Indirect 

Investment 

Investment 

Gains/Losses 

Recognized 

in the 

Current 

Period 

Investment 

Profit 

(Note 3) 

End-of-

Period 

Investment 

Book Value 

Investment 

Gains 

Recovered 

to Date Remarks Outward Inward 

Shanghai Chun Zu 

Machinery 

Industry 

  Co., Ltd. 

Manufacturing 

and trading of 

machinery 

 $   235,280 

     (Note 1)   

(Note 2)  $    55,360   $   -     $   -     $  55,360   $   86,581  100.00%  $ 86,581   $ 617,670  $  712,760             

  (Note 4)  

- 

              

Company Name 

Closing 

Cumulative 

Balance of 

Investment 

Capital 

Transferred from 

Taiwan into 

Mainland China 

Investment 

Commission, 

Ministry of 

Economic 

Affairs 

Amount of 

Investment 

Approved 

Limits 

Authorized by 

the Investment 

Commission, 

Ministry of 

Economic 

Affairs, for 

Investing in 

Mainland 

China (Note 5) 

         

 
Chun Zu 

Machinery 

Industry Co., Ltd. 

 $      55,360   $    179,920   $   615,607           

 

              
(Note 1) Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. has paid-up capital of US$8,500 thousand; US$4,000 thousand of which were contributed by Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. 

through a subsidiary - Lion City Management Ltd., whereas the other US$4,500 thousand was capitalized from earnings; both sources of share capital were pre-approved by the 

Investment Commission. Lion City Management Ltd. undertook a capital reduction in 2008 and returned US$2,000 thousand to the investor in cash; this transaction was 

acknowledged by the Investment Commission. 
(Note 2) Investment into the Mainland was made through an intermediary (Lion City Management Ltd.) established in a third location. 
(Note 3) The amount of investment profit recognized in the current year was evaluated based on audited financial statements. 
(Note 4) It represents US$25,750 thousand of cash dividend that Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. had received from Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. through Lion City 

Management Ltd. 
(Note 5) Calculated at 60% of net worth or consolidated net worth (whichever is higher). 
(Note 6) For foreign currency items shown on this chart, amounts including paid-up capital, investment capital from Taiwan, and closing book value were converted into NTD using the 

exchange rate as at the date of financial statement (USD 1:NTD 27.68); meanwhile, amounts including investees' current profit/loss and gain/loss on investment recognized in the 

current period were converted into NTD using the 2021 average exchange rate (USD 1:NTD 28.01). 
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Chun Zu Machinery Industry Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
 

Information Relating to Investments in the Mainland - Significant Transactions with Mainland Investees, whether Directly Invested or Indirectly Invested through a Third Location  

January 1 to December 31, 2020 
 

Table 4          Unit: NTD thousand  

             

               

Name of Mainland Investee 

Sale (Purchase) Property Transaction 

Accounts Receivable 

(Payable) 

Endorsed Notes, 

Guarantees, or Pledged 

Collaterals Financing  

 

Amount % Amount % Balance % 

Closing 

Balance Purpose 

Highest 

Balance 

Closing 

Balance 

Interest 

Rate Range 

Interest for  

Current Period Others 
 

Shanghai Chun Zu Machinery 

Industry Co., Ltd. 

($ 18,632) (1%)  $      -        -   $    -        -   $    -   -   $     -   $      -        -   $       -   $ 13,010  (Note 1) 

       -       -          -        -        -        -        -        -         -          -        -           -     13,032  (Note 2) 

       -       -          -        -        -        -        -        -         -          -        -           -      6,413  (Note 3) 

               

               

               

               

               

(Note 1) Represents income from business management service.            

(Note 2) Represents other receivables.              

(Note 3) Represents prepayments.              

               

 
 


